
DIVERSIFICATION
FOR

STABILITY & GROWTH

2023 ANNUAL REPORT



RPC provides a broad range of specialized oil eld 

services and equipment to independent and ma or oil eld 

companies engaged in the exploration, production and 

development of oil and gas properties in selected U.S. 

domestic and international markets. RPC is headquartered 

in Atlanta, Georgia, and its common shares are traded on 

the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol RES. 

Visit our corporate website at RPC.net.

RPC, INC. 
AN OIL AND GAS SERVICES COMPANY

2023 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1

LETTER TO STOCKHOLDERS. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2

SERVICE LINES. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4

STRATEGIC EXPANSION IN A 
    VITAL COMPLETION SERVICE LINE. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6

RPC AND ESG – ANOTHER STEP FORWARD. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6

2023 FORM 10-K. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7 

CORPORATE INFORMATION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Inside Back Cover

Map locations highlighted on the front cover represent RPC, Inc. and Subsidiaries offices and customer jobsite locations in North America.



2023 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

1

REVENUES
($ in thousands)

$ 
59

8,
30

2

$ 
86

4,
92

9

$ 
1,

60
1,

76
2

2022202120202019 2023

$ 
1,

61
7,

47
4

$ 
1,

22
2,

40
9

NET INCOME (LOSS)
($ in thousands)

$ 
(2

12
,1

92
)

$ 
19

5,
11

3

$ 
(8

7,
11

1)

$ 
21

8,
36

3

$ 
7,

21
7

2022202120202019 2023

DILUTED EARNINGS 
(LOSS) PER SHARE

$ 
0.

90

$ 
(0

.4
1)

$ 
(1

.0
0)

$ 
0.

03

$ 
1.

01

2022202120202019 2023

(1) EBITDA is a financial measure that does not conform 
to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). 
Additional disclosures regarding this non-GAAP financial 
measure, including a reconciliation of EBITDA to net 
income, are found on page 71 of this RPC, Inc. 2023 
Annual Report.
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In 2023 we experienced both strong momentum in the 
early part of the year as well as the challenge of slowing 
industry activity in the second half of the year. Despite 
a somewhat uncertain environment, we delivered solid 

million. With commodity markets settling down from the 
geopolitical events of 2022 in eastern Europe, we focused 
on capitalizing on strong demand early in 2023, and then 
managing through softer demand as the year progressed. 

year lower. While near-term visibility is limited, we plan to 
continue prudently investing in our business, upgrading 
our assets, and diligently managing our cost structure to 
make sure we are aligned with industry demand.

We completed the strategic acquisition of Spinnaker, a 
high-quality cementing business. Spinnaker is a highly 
complementary asset that enhances our service offerings, 
increases our scale, and broadens our customer base. 
We are pleased with the transaction and subsequent 
integration and, most importantly, the outstanding 
management team who joined the RPC family. 

over-year. While our revenues increased slightly for the 

of the year as 2022 momentum carried through the second 
quarter of 2023. During the second half of 2023 we faced 

slowed demand for our services. After reaching over 780 
in November of 2022, the U.S. rig count steadily drifted 

revenues (which excludes depreciation and amortization) 

and labor costs. Throughout the year we made periodic 

customer demand indications, oil price movements, and 
other industry dynamics. We were pleased that most cost 

the previous two years were generally stable in 2023. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A) 

million in the prior year. The increase was primarily due to 
costs related to the settlement of a vendor dispute coupled 
with the incremental SG&A expenses of the Spinnaker 
business. Depreciation and amortization (D&A) increased 

2022, due to capital expenditures in the past year coupled 
with amortization of acquired intangible assets related to 
the acquisition of Spinnaker. 

of higher D&A, both of which are non-cash items.  

higher interest yields earned on cash and much higher 
average cash balances from strong cash generation 
throughout 2023. We did not draw on our credit facility 
during 2022 or 2023.

last year. Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization

the pension settlement charges referenced above, adjusted 
net income
million last year, adjusted diluted earnings per share  was 

The average U.S. domestic drilling rig count, a traditional 

pressure on industry activity throughout 2023. While the 
U.S. drilling rig count is an important measure of our
customers’ activity levels, the U.S. well completion count

LETTER  TO  STOCKHOLDERS
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We delivered solid nancial 

performance with stable revenues 

and strong cash flow growth, 

completed a strategic acquisition 

and remained debt free.

EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA, adjusted net income, and adjusted diluted earnings per 

measures, including a reconciliation of them to the most directly comparable GAAP 



oil and gas prices have since subsided. 

working capital changes; working capital was a source of 

directed toward the addition of upgraded pressure pumping 
assets and maintenance of existing equipment. We also 

We are focused on upgrading our asset base while not 
increasing industry capacity and will remain prudent and 
conservative with our capital investments.

and our dedication to shareholder returns, RPC continued 
to return cash to shareholders through both dividends and 

shares). We are pleased that our strong cash generation and 

invest in the business and return capital to shareholders, 
and still leave the balance sheet highly liquid and debt free. 

We also have another important milestone we are proud to 

report. Beyond increasing regulatory, operational, and 
disclosure requirements around ESG (Environmental, Social 
and Governance), we understand that communication 
about our ESG-related initiatives is important to customers, 
suppliers, employees, and investors. We look forward to 
making continued progress on all sustainability fronts and 
sharing updates through these reports on an annual basis.

across the company for another year of dedication and 
resilience. We are especially proud that Thru Tubing 
Solutions, our downhole tools company, has been 
recognized as a 2023 Top Workplace by both USA TODAY 
and The Oklahoman. This prestigious accolade is a 
testament to our commitment to fostering a vibrant and 
inclusive work environment. We would also like to thank 
our loyal customers, who continue to choose RPC for 
our reliability, value proposition and overall outstanding 
service. I want to express to all our stakeholders that 

conservative approach that has been our hallmark for 
decades and the backbone of our longevity and success.

Sincerely, 

BEN M. PALMER
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SPINNAKER 
CEMENTING SOLUTIONS 
spinnakeroil.com

Cementing is arguably the most important service line 
for protecting the hydrocarbon reserves and preventing 
contamination of underground freshwater strata by creating 
a strong, reliable seal between the annular space of the 
casing and open hole. It is this bond that later allows 

accurately. Once the well begins to produce, the integrity of 
the cement sheath provides safe passage of hydrocarbons 
from the productive interval to the surface. These 

deliverability from our customers. Cementing is also one of 
the only services that take place on every well that is drilled, 
usually multiple times. Our customers require cementing 
from the initial drilling phase, throughout production, and 

well’s productive life. Cementing services accounted for 

COILED TUBING  
cuddpressure.com

Coiled tubing units use a continuous reel of steel tubing that 
is unwound from a reel and tripped into a well to perform a 
variety of services in several types of environments. Coiled 
tubing is mobile and can be tripped in and out of a well 
more quickly than conventional tubing. In many cases, an 
oil or gas well is able to continue producing during a well-

our customer. RPC was a pioneer in coiled tubing, and today 
we see renewed interest in this market due to the unique 
requirements of unconventional wells and the enhanced 
capabilities of larger diameter coiled tubing strings for use in 
unconventional completion activities. We remain dedicated 
to the coiled tubing market because of our expertise in the 

PRESSURE PUMPING
cuddenergyservices.com

RPC’s largest service line is pressure pumping, which 

revenues. Pressure pumping is a stimulation service that 
involves fracturing or acidizing a formation to initiate or 
stimulate production in new and existing customer wells, 
either at the completion stage or later in a well’s life cycle. It 
is especially useful in unconventional completion activities, 
in which exposing additional surface area in a formation 

formation. Because of the growth of shale-related production 
activities, our customers’ need for high-capacity pressure 
pumping services has grown tremendously. With the advent of 

“zipper” fracturing, we continue to see the need for upgraded, 
more powerful equipment.

percentage of our revenues during the past two decades. 
The business is very capital-intensive, so it has received a 
majority of our capital investment. Pressure pumping services 
are provided using trailer-mounted equipment, so that the 
mobility of the equipment allows our services to be performed 
in various geographic areas. RPC provides these services to 
customers in many of the U.S. domestic oil and gas producing 
regions that focus on unconventional completion activities.

DOWNHOLE TOOLS
thrutubing.com

RPC’s downhole tools service line is dedicated to the coiled 

industry. This service line specializes in working downhole 
tools – often under pressure – during drilling, completion 
and workover operations. Thru Tubing Solutions accounted 

Our engineering team has developed a complete line of 
downhole equipment, some of which is proprietary in 
nature. A recent addition to our service offerings involves 
a patented technology that selectively diverts a frac to a 
less-treated part of a formation, which effectively increases 
the stimulated reservoir volume. Downhole situations are 
unpredictable and require visualization skills and the ability 
to apply innovative engineering techniques to solve complex 
downhole problems. Because this service line’s offerings are 
especially suited for unconventional drilling and completion 

In addition to our domestic presence, we also operate 
successfully in several international markets.

SERVICE LINES

4
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WELL CONTROL
cuddwellcontrol.com

Well control specializes in responding to and controlling 
oil and gas well emergencies, including blowouts and well 

are known for in the industry. The Company’s professional 

the successful performance of this service often leads to 
additional service opportunities. We perform these services 
all over the world and on short notice. In the past few years 
we have performed well control work in most oil-producing 
regions around the world. While well control accounted for 

important component of our service offerings.

OILFIELD PIPE
INSPECTION SERVICES,
MANAGEMENT AND STORAGE
Our pipe inspection services include Full Body Electro-

used in oil and gas wells. These services are provided 
at both the Company’s inspection facilities and at pipe 
mills in accordance with negotiated sales and/or service 
contracts. Our customers are major oil companies and 
steel mills, for which we provide in-house inspection 
services, inventory management and process control 
of tubing, casing and drill pipe. Our locations near the 
Gulf Coast are equipped with bulkhead dock space and 

from barges, marine vessels, and a wide variety of other 
offshore and inland vessels. Patterson Tubular Services is 
equipped with a computerized inventory system to serve 

pattersontubular.com

RENTAL TOOLS
pattersonservices.com
The rental tools service line is the largest part of our support 

revenues in 2023. This service line rents equipment to customers 
for use in both onshore and offshore oil and gas well drilling, as 
well as completion and workover activities. Usually operators and 

tool and tubular inventories with rental items instead of owning a 
complete collection of tools. Our facilities are located to serve major 
staging points for oil and gas activities throughout the Gulf Coast, 

and offshore oil and gas well drilling, completion and workover 
activities. Our rental tools service line has some of the highest 
exposure to U.S. domestic oil production of any of our service lines 
due to the strategic placement of our facilities.

NITROGEN
cuddpressure.com
Nitrogen is a safe, noncombustible and noncorrosive substance 

of our other service lines, including coiled tubing, snubbing and 
pressure pumping. There are a number of uses for nitrogen, an 

customers, nitrogen can be used to clean drilling and production 

hazardous blowout situations and as a fracturing medium for our 
fracturing service line. Specialized equipment is required to deliver 
nitrogen safely and effectively to the well site. Nitrogen accounted 
for approximately 3 percent of RPC’s revenues in 2023.

SNUBBING-HYDRAULIC  WORKOVER

Snubbing-hydraulic workover has been an important service line 
due to its specialization. Although this service line accounted 
for less than 2 percent of our 2023 revenues, snubbing-hydraulic 
workover is a well intervention service that uses a portable, 
hydraulic workover rig and crew to repair damaged casing, 
production tubing and downhole production equipment in a high-
pressure environment and even to replace downhole equipment 
while maintaining pressure on the well. Snubbing-hydraulic 

workover is increasingly used in unconventional completions 
which have extremely long lateral wellbores that coiled tubing 
cannot effectively service.

cuddpressure.com
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STRATEGIC  EXPANSION  IN  A VITAL  
COMPLETION  SERVICE  LINE
During 2023 RPC acquired Spinnaker Oilwell Services, 

the mid-Continent and Permian Basins. This acquisition 

presence in South Texas into the two basins in which RPC 
currently operates its pressure pumping service line. We are 
pleased with the quality of Spinnaker’s management team 

opportunities to offer other services to new customers.

Cementing is a vital part of the oil and gas well completion 
process. It involves the injection of a cement slurry into the 
space between the well casing and the borehole wall of a 
newly drilled well. This is not a simple process, as individual 
well conditions such as temperature and downhole pressure 

well. Thus, engineering expertise and technology are vital 
in a successful cementing operation. A proper cementing 
operation ensures well integrity, high productivity, safety 
and environmental stewardship. For this reason, customers 
view their cementing service provider as an important 
partner in the completion phase of a well.

Spinnaker distinguishes itself through operational 
excellence and the use of state-of-the-art technology. 
Notable among its technology offerings is advanced 
simulation software that captures information regarding a 
well’s characteristics and provides calculations necessary 
for an optimal cement formulation. Another Spinnaker 
offering is the Nitro Bond  cementing solution. Nitro 
Bond  is a long-lasting cement slurry which can be used in 
weaker formations to provide support and bonding without 
damaging the formation.

Cudd Cementing, RPC’s legacy cementing business, 
has operated in South Texas for several years and has 
developed a strong knowledge base and expertise in 

Cudd Cementing provides engineered solutions using the 
latest equipment, and shares the same understanding of 
the critical importance of cementing in supporting well 
integrity and the implications for well production, safety 
and environmental stewardship.

Cudd Cementing and Spinnaker are collaborating to 
share ideas and best practices with the common goal of 
advancing the standards of well integrity supported by high 
quality cementing operations. Our cementing operations 

the Permian and mid-Continent Basins, as well as RPC’s 

RPC and its operating entities are dedicated to safety 
and reliability, and our pressure pumping service line in 
particular has accomplished a great deal in the area of 

part of our culture, so the collective impact of these 
efforts will continue to drive positive change across the 

larger cementing operation is integration with our pressure 
pumping service line. Since cementing operations take 
place before hydraulic fracturing, these services can be 

these services provide individually.

The entire Spinnaker organization has integrated well 
with the RPC family, and we look forward to the continued 
growth and expansion of our cementing operations.

RPC AND ESG — ANOTHER STEP FORWARD
RPC has made purposeful strides in environmental, social, 
and governance achievements. We have focused on 

and lower emissions and maintain optimal equipment 
conditions using advanced technologies. Additionally, RPC 
continues its commitment to environmental stewardship, 
evident in our recycling and water management efforts, 
aiming for minimal ecological impact and supporting 
community water conservation projects. 

Prioritizing employee well-being is also a top-level focus, 
and RPC has done that through wellness programs and 
safety practices. Governance efforts are highlighted by 
strong business ethics and legal compliance, fostering 
a culture of integrity and accountability within the 
organization. RPC’s commitment to diversity and inclusion
initiatives, enhanced data security measures, and rigorous 
environmental management to minimize impacts and 
promote sustainability speaks to our strong overall ESG 
commitment. A disclosure report has been published 
on our website at rpc.net which contains more detailed 
information. Investors and other interested stakeholders 

to responsible and sustainable business practices.
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Part I 
Forward-Looking Statements

Part I

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements made in this report that are not historical facts 

different tenses or number or principle parts, as well as gerunds 

derived therefrom), and similar expressions generally identify 
forward-looking statements. 

Such forward-looking statements may include, without limitation, 
statements that relate to our business strategy, plans and 

expectations regarding future demand for our equipment and 

Forward-looking statements made elsewhere in this report 
include, without limitation, statements regarding: our expectations 

business from its presence in South Texas to basins in which we 
currently provide other services; our ability to continue to monitor 
factors that impact current and expected customer activity levels, 
such as the prices of oil and natural gas, changes in pricing for our 
services and equipment, and utilization of our equipment and 
personnel; the effect of geopolitical factors such as political 
instability in the petroleum-producing regions of the world, the 

results; our strategy of utilizing equipment in unconventional 

expenditures will be directed primarily towards capitalized 

selected growth opportunities; our intention to replace a Tier 2 

to continue to pursue international growth opportunities; our belief 
that international revenues will continue to be less than ten 
percent of our consolidated revenues in the foreseeable future; our 

drilling activity; our belief that oil prices will stay above levels 

completion activities: our belief that the favorable long-term 

gas-directed exploration and production activities; our belief in the 
long-term importance of our business due to continued worldwide 
demand for hydrocarbons generally and the high production of oil 

of their high initial production rates, that the advent of 

permanent change and continue to have a positive impact on the 
demand for our services; our emphasis on domestic rather than 
international expansion because of higher domestic activity levels 

companies and national oil companies that dominate the 
international market, although this market is prone to uncertainties 

domestic drilling in the near-term; our belief that natural gas-
directed drilling will increase in the future because of favorable 

higher demand for oil and natural gas products should drive 
increased activity in most of the basins in which we operate; our 
plans to continue to monitor the market for our services and the 
competitive environment including the current trends and 
expectations with regard to environmental concerns and related 

gains have been realized; our belief that demand for our services 
will remain consistent with 2023 levels during the near term; our 
plan to continue to maintain and upgrade our revenue-producing 
equipment; our plans to remain highly disciplined about adding 
new incremental revenue-producing equipment capacity and to 

allocate capital to maintain the capacity of our pressure pumping 

program; our belief that the liquidity provided by our existing cash 
and cash equivalents and our overall strong capitalization will 

next twelve months; our belief that we will not need our revolving 
credit facility to meet our liquidity requirements; our expectations 

other relevant factors; estimates made with respect to our critical 
accounting policies; the effect of new accounting standards; the 
effect of the changes in foreign exchange rates on our consolidated 

sources of supply, including of nitrogen in liquid form, are adequate; 
our belief that our facilities, including our rental tool facilities, are 

gas activities, and are suitable and adequate for our current and 
reasonably anticipated future needs; our anticipation that 2024 

through effective and conservative management of invested 
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our plans to focus on selected customers and markets where we 
believe there are opportunities for higher growth, customers and 
market penetration, or enhanced returns achieved through 
acquisitions or through providing proprietary value added 
equipment and services; our goal to expand our service capabilities 

ventures and strategic alliances; our belief that a number of 
acquisition opportunities exist; our plan to continue to consider 
acquisitions while also maintaining a conservative capital 
structure; our assessments regarding the principal competitive 
factors in the market areas we serve; our human resources 

but not limited to, our goals to attract and retain employees by 

reduce safety hazard exposure for employees; our intention to seek 

 

including but not limited to our goals related to focusing on 
investments that we believe will earn high returns on capital, 

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

customers to maintain drilling and completion activities; our 
statements that we may repurchase outstanding common shares 
periodically based on market conditions and other factors; 

of critical accounting policies, including those related to credit 
losses and allowance related to same, self-insurance, goodwill, and 

of operation.

Such forward-looking statements are based on certain 
assumptions and analyses made by our management in light 
of its experience and its perception of historical trends, current 
conditions, expected future developments and other factors it 
believes to be appropriate. These statements involve known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may 
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of RPC 
to be materially different from any future results, performance 

or achievements expressed or implied in such forward-looking 
statements. Risk factors that could cause such future events not 
to occur as expected include the following: the volatility of oil and 
natural gas prices; volatility in demand for our services due to, 

gas, activity levels in the oil and gas industry in general, driven in 
part by customer decisions about capital investment toward the 

in drilling rig count and well completions; our concentration of 
customers in the energy industry and periodic downturns; our 
business depends on capital spending by our customers, many 

dependence on our key personnel; our ability to identify or 
complete acquisitions; our ability to attract and retain skilled 
workers; some of our equipment and several types of materials 
used in providing our services are available from a limited number 

us; increasing expectations from customers, investors and other 
stakeholders regarding our environmental, social and governance 
practices; our compliance with regulations and environmental 

pandemic on our operating results; possible declines in the price 
of oil and natural gas, which tend to result in a decrease in drilling 
activity and therefore a decline in the demand for our services; 
the ultimate impact of current and potential political unrest and 

could impact drilling activity, adverse weather conditions in oil or 
gas producing regions, including the Gulf of Mexico; competition 

price increases; the potential impact of possible future regulations 
on hydraulic fracturing on our business; risks of international 
operations; reliance on large customers; our operations rely on 

other threats; our cash and cash equivalents are held primarily at 

in unfavorable outcomes that cannot be currently estimated; and 

labor markets, supply disruptions, and higher costs of certain 
materials and key equipment components, and decreased supply 
of skilled labor; and changes in assumptions underlying our critical 

in Item 1A. for a discussion of factors that may cause actual results 
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ITEM 1.

Business

ORGANIZATION AND OVERVIEW

RPC is a Delaware corporation originally organized in 1984 as a 

headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia.

gas companies engaged in the exploration, production and 

including the southwest, mid-continent, Gulf of Mexico, Rocky 
Mountain and Appalachian regions, and in selected international 
markets. RPC acts as a holding company for the following legal 
entity groupings: Cudd Energy Services, Cudd Pressure Control, 
Thru Tubing Solutions and Patterson Services. Selected overhead 
including centralized support services and regulatory compliance 

Services and Support Services, which are its operating segments. 
As of December 31, 2023, RPC had 2,691 employees..

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

RPC manages its business as either services offered on the well 
site with equipment and personnel (Technical Services), or 
services and equipment offered off the well site (Support Services). 
The businesses under Technical Services generate revenues 
based on equipment, personnel operating the equipment and the 
materials utilized to provide the service. They are all managed, 
analyzed and reported based on the similarities of the operational 
characteristics and costs associated with providing the service. In 
2023, we estimate that 74% of our revenues were related to drilling 
and production activities for oil, while 26% of revenues were 
related to drilling and production activities for natural gas. During 

people and equipment to perform value-added completion, 

existing formation, or to address well control issues. This operating 
segment consists primarily of pressure pumping, downhole tools, 

and gas producers and selected nationally owned oil companies. 
The services offered under Technical Services are high capital 
and personnel intensive businesses. The common drivers of 

diligent equipment maintenance, strong logistical processes, 
and appropriately trained personnel who function well in a team 

principal geographical markets. 

Support Services include all of the services that provide  
(i) equipment offered off the well site without RPC personnel and 
(ii) services that are provided in support of customer operations 

off the well site such as classroom and computer training. The 
equipment and services offered include rental tools, drill pipe and 
related tools, pipe handling, pipe inspection and storage services, 

levels. The primary drivers of operational success for Support 
Services are offering safe, high quality and in-demand equipment, 
as well as meeting customer needs and competitive marketing of 
such services. Customers primarily include domestic operations 

and selected nationally owned oil companies. Support Services are 

A brief description of the primary services conducted within each 
of the operating segments follows::

TECHNICAL SERVICES

Pressure Pumping. Pressure pumping services, which accounted 
for 48% of 2023 revenues, 53% of 2022 revenues and 43% of 2021 
revenues are provided to customers throughout Texas, and the 

these services to customers to enhance the initial production of 
hydrocarbons in formations that have low permeability. Pressure 
pumping services involve using complex, truck or skid-mounted 

service offered. The mobility of this equipment permits pressure 
pumping services to be performed in varying geographic areas. 
Principal materials utilized in pressure pumping operations 
include fracturing proppants, acid and bulk chemical additives. 
Generally, these items are available from several suppliers, and the 
Company utilizes more than one supplier for each item. Pressure 
pumping services offered include:

Fracturing — Fracturing services are performed to stimulate 
production of oil and natural gas by increasing the permeability 
of a formation. Fracturing is particularly important in shale 
formations, which have low permeability, and unconventional 
completion, because the formation containing hydrocarbons is 
not concentrated in one area and requires multiple fracturing 

to fracture the formation at desired locations and depths. Sand, 
ceramics, or synthetic materials, which are often coated with 
a material to increase their resistance to crushing, are pumped 
into the fracture. When the pressure is released at the surface, 

in the fracture, thus keeping it open to allow oil and natural 

and ultimately to the well surface. In some cases, fracturing is 
performed in formations with a high amount of carbonate rock 
by an acid solution pumped under pressure without a proppant 
or with small amounts of proppant.

Acidizing — Acidizing services are also performed to stimulate 
production of oil and natural gas, but they are used in wells 
that have undergone formation damage due to the buildup of 
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various materials that block the formation. Acidizing entails 
pumping large volumes of specially formulated acids into 
reservoirs to dissolve barriers and enlarge crevices in the 

natural gas. Acidizing services can also enhance production 
in limestone formations. Acid is also frequently used in the 
beginning of a fracturing operation.

Downhole Tools.
division accounted for 25% of revenues in 2023, 23% of revenues 
in 2022 and 29% of revenues in 2021. TTS provides services and 

downhole tools and processes to operators and service companies 
in drilling and production operations, including casing perforation 
and bridge plug drilling at the completion stage of an oil or gas 
well. The services that TTS provides are often proprietary solutions 
developed by the Company, for which the Company maintains an 
active intellectual property and patent program. Management 
believes Downhole Tools represents a differentiated service line.

Coiled Tubing. Coiled tubing services, which accounted for nine 
percent of revenues in both 2023 and 2022 and ten percent of 

to perform various applications and functions for use principally 
to facilitate completion of unconventional wells, and to a lesser 
extent, in well-servicing operations of existing wells. Coiled 

wound or coiled around a large reel and conveyed into a wellbore 
to conduct a variety of downhole tasks. Coiled tubing is attractive 

are other than vertical, while also being strong enough to convey 
tools or motors at the end of the coiled tubing string. Since it is 

to clean out a wellbore. The uses for coiled tubing in directional 
and horizontal wells have been enhanced by improved fabrication 
techniques and larger-diameter coiled tubing which allows coiled 
tubing units to be used effectively over greater distances, thus 
allowing them to function in more of the completion activities 

and the Company believes that its sources of supply are adequate.

Cementing. Cementing services, which accounted for four percent 
of revenues in 2023 and one percent of revenues in both 2022 and 
2021 are used at the completion stage of an oil or natural gas well to 
seal the wellbore after the casing string has been run. The process 
of cementing includes developing a cement slurry formulated 

the wellbore and into the space between the well casing and well 
bore, and allowing it to harden. In addition to completion uses, 
cementing can also be used to seal a lost circulation zone in an 
existing well, and to plug a well at the end of its life cycle. Effective 

primarily due to the acquisition of Spinnaker. 

Snubbing. Snubbing (also referred to as hydraulic workover 
services), which accounted for two percent of revenues in 2023, 
2022 and 2021, involves using a hydraulic workover rig that permits 
an operator to repair damaged casing, production tubing and 
downhole production equipment in a high-pressure environment. 

Increasingly, snubbing units are used for unconventional 
completions at the outer reaches of long wellbores which cannot 
be serviced by coiled tubing because coiled tubing has a more 
limited range than pipe conveyed by a snubbing unit. A snubbing 
unit makes it possible to remove and replace downhole equipment 

because these operations can be performed without removing the 
pressure from the well, which stops production and can damage 
the formation, and because a snubbing unit can perform many 
applications at a lower cost than other alternatives.

Nitrogen.
2023, two percent of revenues in 2022 and four percent of revenues 
in 2021. There are a number of uses for nitrogen, an inert, non-

customers, nitrogen can be used to clean drilling and production 

blowout situations and as a fracturing medium for our fracturing 
service. In addition, nitrogen can be complementary to our 
snubbing and coiled tubing services, because it is a non-corrosive 

well, because foam-based nitrogen stimulation is appropriate in 

industrial users, nitrogen can be used to purge pipelines and create 
a non-combustible environment. RPC purchases its nitrogen in 
liquid form from several suppliers and believes that these sources 
of supply are adequate.

Well Control. Cudd Pressure Control specializes in responding to 
and controlling oil and gas well emergencies, including blowouts 

with these services, Cudd Pressure Control, along with Patterson 
Services, has the capacity to supply the equipment, expertise 
and personnel necessary to restore affected oil and gas wells 
to production. During the past several years, the Company has 
responded to numerous well control situations in the domestic 

events ordinarily arise from equipment failures or human error, it 
is impossible to predict accurately the timing or scope of this work. 
Additionally, less critical events frequently occur in connection 
with the drilling of new wells in high-pressure reservoirs. In these 
situations, the Company is called upon to supervise and assist in 
the well control effort so that drilling operations can resume as 
promptly as safety permits.

Wireline Services.
slick or braided line and electric line. In both, a spooled wire is 
unwound and lowered into a well, conveying various types of tools 
or equipment. Slick or braided line services use a non-conductive 

or plug-setting operations. Electric line services lower an electrical 
conductor line into a well allowing the use of electrically-operated 
tools such as perforators, bridge plugs and logging tools. Wireline 
services can be an integral part of the plug and abandonment 
process near the end of the life cycle of a well.
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SUPPORT SERVICES

Rental Tools.
in 2023 and four percent of revenues in both 2022 and 2021. The 
Company rents specialized equipment for use with onshore 
and offshore oil and gas well completion, drilling and workover 
activities. The Company offers a broad range of rental tools 
including drill pipe and associated handling tools, blowout 
preventers and a variety of tool assemblages that provide well 
control. The drilling and subsequent operation of oil and gas 
wells generally require a variety of equipment. The equipment 
needed is in large part determined by the geological features 
of the production zone and the size of the well itself. As a result, 

supplement their tool and tubular assets with rental items instead 

gas activities. 

Pipe Storage. Pipe inspection services include Full Body 

used in oil and gas wells. These services are provided at both the 

provide in-house inspection services, inventory management 

in Channelview, Texas and Morgan City, Louisiana are equipped 
with large capacity cranes, specially designed forklifts and a 
computerized inventory system to serve a variety of storage and 
handling requirements.

Well Control School. Well Control School provides industry and 
government accredited training for the oil and gas industry both 

Control School provides training in various formats including 
conventional classroom training, interactive computer training 
including training delivered over the internet, and mobile 
simulator training.

Business Segment and Entity Wide Disclosures for additional 

INDUSTRY

United States. RPC provides its services to its domestic customers 
through a network of facilities strategically located to serve oil 
and gas drilling and production activities of its customers in 
Texas, the mid-continent, the southwest, the Gulf of Mexico, the 

their decisions about capital investment toward the development 
and production of oil and gas reserves. 

Due to improved drilling technology, the drilling rig count in the 

Baker Hughes, Inc.). While oil and gas industry demand is 

for current and future industry activity. Due to continuously 
enhanced rig and other technologies during the last decade, an 
increased number of wells have been drilled during periods of 
strong industry activity, and the domestic production of both oil 

and gas industry activity levels have historically been volatile, 
experiencing multiple cycles, including seven down cycle 
troughs between 1981 and 2020, with August 2020 marking the 

approximately 149%.

reported well completions increased to 12,250 in 2023, an increase 
of approximately 8.0% compared to 2022.

activity are consistent with the prices of oil and natural gas, 
global supply and demand for oil and natural gas, the domestic 
supply of natural gas, capital availability to fund the operations 

on world currency markets. During 2020, oil prices suffered a 
historic decrease due to the global economic disruption and 

facing a potential collapse in global oil demand. Following the 

more than doubled compared to the historic low level recorded in 
2020. During early 2022 the industry also experienced volatility, 

count decreased to 688 compared to 723 in the prior year, in part 

remain consistent with 2023 levels during 2024. Fluctuations 
in the prices of these commodities, particularly the price of oil, 

The average price of natural gas decreased by approximately 

Information Administration). RPC believes that the recent 
decrease in the price of natural gas may discourage drilling and 
completion of natural gas-directed wells during the near term.

Beginning in 2010, the percentage of drilling rigs drilling for 
natural gas began to decline, and since that time has consistently 

natural gas have been offset by increasing production, thus 
preventing the price of natural gas from rising. The Russian 

Western European countries to curtail or eliminate their purchases 
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highest level since 2008 and encouraged additional investment 

These factors have been offset by warm weather and the idling of 

to the decline in the price of natural gas during 2023. We continue 
to believe in the long-term importance of our business due to 
continued worldwide demand for hydrocarbons and the high 

they are drilled through relatively impermeable formations 
such as shale, they require additional stimulation when they are 
completed. Also, many of these formations require high pumping 

be accomplished by using a great deal of pressure pumping 
horsepower to complete the well. Furthermore, since these 
types of wells are not drilled in a straight vertical direction, they 

than rigid, and can be steered once they are downhole. For these 

our downhole tools and services. Since 2016, unconventional oil 

drilling and RPC believes that they will continue to comprise the 

market, which RPC believes to be a permanent change, continues 

International. RPC has historically operated in several countries 

growth capital over the last several years has emphasized domestic 
rather than international expansion because of higher domestic 

RPC provides services to its international customers through 
branch locations or wholly owned foreign subsidiaries. The 
international market is prone to political uncertainties, 

term perspective with regard to oil and natural gas pricing, and 

domestic operations. Additionally, the international market is 

stability than the typical independent oil and gas producer in the 

titled Business Segment and Entity wide Disclosures for further 
information on our international operations.

GROWTH STRATEGIES

returns on investment through the effective and conservative 
management of its invested capital to generate strong cash 

investments and opportunities designed to enhance the long-term 
value of RPC while improving market share, product offerings 

focused on selected customers and markets in which we believe 
there exist opportunities for higher growth, customer and market 
penetration, or enhanced returns achieved through acquisitions 
or through providing proprietary value-added equipment and 

which it believes that it has a competitive advantage and on 
potential new customers who have a long-term need for our 
services in markets in which we operate.

RPC seeks to expand its service capabilities through a combination 

alliances. Historically, we have found that we generate higher 

geographical locations in which we have experience. Because of 
the fragmented nature of the oil and gas services industry, RPC 
believes a number of acquisition opportunities exist, and we 
frequently consider such opportunities. In the third quarter of 2023 

Services, thereby expanding our cementing service line. We will 
continue to consider the acquisitions of existing businesses but 
will also continue to maintain a conservative capital structure, 
which may limit our ability to consummate large transactions.

RPC has a revolving credit facility which can be used to fund 
working capital and other capital requirements, as needed. The 

sublimit. There was no outstanding balance on this credit facility 

than that of many of our peers.

CUSTOMERS

the number of oil and natural gas wells being drilled, the depth and 
drilling conditions of such wells, the number of well completions 
and the level of production enhancement activity worldwide. 

and natural gas producing companies. There was no customer in 
2023 that accounted for 10% or more of revenues. RPC provided 

exploration and production company, accounted for approximately 

exceeding 10% of revenues during 2022 or 2021. 

of these customers, their capital expenditure plans, and other 
indications of their drilling and completion activities. Due to the 
short lead time between ordering services or equipment and 

sales backlog.
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COMPETITION

industry. We offer our services and equipment in highly competitive 
markets, and the revenues and earnings generated are affected 

and governmental regulation. RPC competes with many large and 

related Federal stimulus that supported businesses that would 

to improve during the fourth quarter of 2020, and pricing for our 
services began to improve during the fourth quarter of 2021, both of 

destabilized global oil markets, causing prices to rise, while also 

its oil and natural gas reserves, political stability and downstream 
energy infrastructure. Instability in the Middle East region has 

the Red Sea shipping disruptions. 

effective capacity and impose another catalyst for declining 
pricing and utilization. The combination of a large number of 

services business to remain highly competitive. RPC believes that 
the principal competitive factors in the market areas that it serves 
are product availability and quality of our equipment and raw 
materials used to provide our services, service quality, reputation 

The oil and gas services industry includes dominant global 
competitors including, among others, Halliburton Company, 
Baker Hughes Company, and Schlumberger Ltd. The industry 
also includes a number of other publicly traded peers whose 
operations are more similar to RPC, including Liberty Energy, 

and ProPetro Holding Corporation, as well as numerous smaller, 
locally owned competitors. Increased demands for larger-scale 
and newer technology solutions, as well as business combinations 
among large oil and gas companies, are driving consolidation of 
our competitors in certain service lines.

HUMAN CAPITAL

The table below shows the number of employees at December 31, 
2023 and 2022:

At December 31, 2023 2022

Employees 2,691 2,732

talent in the following areas:

Diversity and Equality –
and our dedicated team of employees works towards a common 

consistency in management. We have long been dedicated to 
recruiting and hiring recently discharged military personnel. 
The Board of Directors has a Human Capital Management and 
Compensation Committee that monitors compliance with 
applicable non-discrimination laws related to race, gender, and 
other protected classes. The Committee provides an update of 
such incidents to the Board, as needed, at least on an annual basis.

Development and Training –
team and all its employees are expected to exhibit and promote 
honest, ethical and respectful conduct in the workplace. We 
have implemented and maintained a Code of Conduct to provide 
guidance for everyone associated with the Company, including its 

unlawful or unethical activity, including discrimination, and directs 

not unlawful or unethical, might create an appearance of illegality 
or impropriety. The Code is updated annually and certain employees 
at the supervisory level and above are required to review the code 
each year and any reported non-compliance is followed up on and 
resolved, as appropriate. In addition, the Company provides annual 
training for preventing, identifying, reporting, and ending any type 
of unlawful discrimination. We also have escalation policies in 
place to address various issues including employee discrimination. 
The Company also provides a wide variety of opportunities for 
professional growth for all employees with in-classroom and online 

 The Company focuses on attracting 

packages that are competitive in the market, taking into account 

match, and generally grant awards of restricted stock for certain 
of our salaried employees. We provide our employees and their 

convenient health and wellness programs that support their 
physical and mental health by providing tools and resources to 
help them improve or maintain their health status.

RPC has always believed in the long-term value of education 
and has demonstrated this belief through a college scholarship 
program for the children of employees. This program, which 
awards four-year college scholarships based on merit, parents' 

hundreds of children of employees as they earn college degrees. A 
number of these college graduates have come to work for RPC and 
have followed their parents to become valuable employees.

RPC and its subsidiaries have regularly participated in efforts to 
support the communities in which we live. We have participated 

headquarters is located for more than 30 years. In addition, we 
have sponsored several emergency relief efforts following natural 
disasters, such as hurricanes and tornados, in communities in 

Safety – The Company adheres to a comprehensive safety 
program to promote a safe working environment for its employees, 
contractors and customers at its operational locations and active 
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workplace-related incidents and evolving preventative measures. 
We monitor our workplace safety record and compare it to industry 

RPC is making technology and process investments which reduce 

of the remaining employees in ways that reduce their exposure 
to safety hazards. We believe that this reduced exposure to active 

line which has a high concentration of employees.

FACILITIES/EQUIPMENT

equipment used either in servicing customer wells or provided on 
a rental basis for customer use. Most of this equipment is Company 

number of manufacturers. These manufacturers may not be able 
to meet our requests for timely delivery during periods of high 
demand which may result in delayed deliveries of equipment and 
higher prices for equipment.

RPC owns and leases regional and district facilities from which its 

Company has four primary administrative buildings, two leased 
facilities, one in each of The Woodlands, Texas, and Midland, Texas, 

marketing headquarters, and two owned facilities, one in Houma, 
Louisiana that includes certain administrative functions and one 

functions, operations, engineering, sales and equipment storage 
yards. RPC believes that its facilities are adequate for its current 

titled Leases.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATION

other regulations relating to the oil and gas industry, as well as 
laws and regulations relating to worker safety and environmental 
protection. RPC cannot predict the level of enforcement of 
existing laws and regulations or how such laws and regulations 
may be interpreted by enforcement agencies or court rulings, 
whether additional laws and regulations will be adopted, or the  

condition. More stringent environmental standards compel 
the Company to buy more expensive equipment to meet those 
standards and also renders older equipment obsolete. 

In addition, our customers are affected by laws and regulations 
relating to the exploration and production of natural resources such 

We cannot determine the extent to which new legislation may 

for our services.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

RPC uses several patented items in its operations which 
management believes are important, but are not indispensable, 

protection, when possible, it relies to a greater extent on the 
technical expertise and know-how of its personnel to maintain its 
competitive position.

AVAILABILITY OF FILINGS

RPC makes available, free of charge, on its website, rpc.net, its annual 
report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports 
on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports on the same day 

ITEM 1A.

Risk Factors

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

Demand for our equipment and services is affected by 
the volatility of oil and natural gas prices. 

industry, including the demand for our equipment and services. 

our customers related to the exploration and production of oil 
and natural gas. When these capital investments decline, our 

The price of oil, a world-wide commodity, is affected by, among 

cartel which controls approximately 40% of global oil production. 

contribute to the volatility of the price of oil on the world market. 

Although the production sector of the oil and gas industry is less 
immediately affected by changing prices, and, as a result, less 
volatile than the exploration sector, producers react to declining 
oil and gas prices by curtailing capital spending, which would 
adversely affect our business. A prolonged low level of customer 
activity in the oil and gas industry adversely affects the demand 

results of operations.

Reliance upon a large customer may adversely affect our 
revenues and operating results.
At times our business has had a concentration of one or more 
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and production company, accounted for approximately 11% of the 

and no customers in 2021 exceeding 10% of revenues. In addition, 
there was one customer that accounted for approximately 10% 
of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2023. There were no 
other customers as of December 31, 2023, and no customers as 
of December 31, 2022, that accounted for 10% or more of accounts 

portion of our total revenues exposes us to the risk that the loss 
or reduction in revenues from this customer, which could occur 
unexpectedly, could have a material and disproportionate adverse 
impact upon our revenues and operating results.

Our concentration of customers in one industry and 
periodic downturns may impact our overall exposure to 
credit risk and cause us to experience increased credit 
loss allowance for accounts receivable.
Substantially all of our customers operate in the energy industry. 
This concentration of customers in one industry may impact our 
overall exposure to credit risk, either positively or negatively, in 
that customers may be similarly affected by changes in economic 
and industry conditions. We perform ongoing credit evaluations 
of our customers and do not generally require collateral in support 
of our trade receivables. The periodic downturns that our industry 
experiences may adversely affect our customers' operations, 
which could cause us to experience increased credit losses for 
accounts receivable.

Our business depends on capital spending by our 

fund their operations.
Many of our customers rely on their ability to raise equity capital 

Their ability to raise outside capital depends upon, among other 
things, the availability of capital, near-term operating prospects 

natural gas, and relative attractiveness of competing investments 
for available investment capital. These factors are outside of our 
control, and in the event our customers cannot continue to raise 

would be negatively impacted.

RPC’s success will depend on its key personnel, and the 
loss of any key personnel may affect its revenues.

service of key management personnel. The loss or interruption of 
the services of any senior management personnel or the inability 

We may be unable to compete in the highly competitive 
oil and gas industry in the future.

industry. The equipment and services in our industry segments are 
sold in highly competitive markets, and our revenues and earnings 
have in the past been affected by changes in competitive prices, 

many large and small industry competitors, including the largest 

competitive factors in the market areas that we serve are product 
and service quality and availability, reputation for safety, technical 

safety and quality service is good, we cannot assure you that we 
will be able to maintain our competitive position.

We may be unable to identify or complete acquisitions, 

integration and other risks.
Acquisitions have been and may continue to be a key element of 
our business strategy. We cannot assure you that we will be able to 
identify and acquire acceptable acquisition candidates on terms 
favorable to us in the future. We may be required to incur substantial 

equity securities in connection with such acquisitions. The 

dilution to our stockholders. We cannot assure you that we will 
be able to successfully integrate the operations and assets of any 
acquired business with our own business. Any inability on our part 
to integrate and manage the growth of acquired businesses could 
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and 

anticipated expenses related to integrating information systems, 

and retaining management and personnel. Additionally, we may 
not be able to achieve the anticipated expansion of our cementing 
business from its presence in South Texas to basins in which we 
provide other services.

Our operations are affected by adverse weather 
conditions.

several domestic regions, including the Gulf of Mexico, the Gulf 
Coast, the mid-continent, and the Appalachian region. Hurricanes 
and other storms prevalent in the Gulf of Mexico and along the 
Gulf Coast during certain times of the year may also affect our 
operations, and severe hurricanes may affect our customers' 
activities for a period of several years. While the impact of these 
storms may increase the need for certain of our services over a 
longer period of time, such storms can also decrease our customers' 
activities immediately after they occur. Such hurricanes may also 
affect the prices of oil and natural gas by disrupting supplies in 
the short term, which may increase demand for our services in 
geographic areas not damaged by the storms. Prolonged rain, 
snow or ice in many of our locations may temporarily prevent our 
crews and equipment from reaching customer work sites. Due to 
seasonal differences in weather patterns, our crews may operate 
more days in some periods than others. Accordingly, our operating 
results may vary from quarter to quarter, depending on the impact 
of these weather conditions.

Our ability to attract and retain skilled workers may 

to expand our operations is, in part, impacted by our ability to 

by competing employers could result in a reduction in our skilled 
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labor force, increases in the wage rates paid by us, or both. The 
Company and our industry are being affected by shortages of 

and our growth potential could be impaired.

Some of our equipment and several types of materials 
used in providing our services are available from a 
limited number of suppliers. 
We purchase equipment provided by a limited number of 

During periods of high demand, these manufacturers may not be 
able to meet our requests for timely delivery, resulting in delayed 
deliveries of equipment and higher prices for equipment. There 
are a limited number of suppliers for certain materials used in 
pressure pumping services, our largest service line. While these 
materials are generally available, supply disruptions can occur due 
to factors beyond our control. Such disruptions, delayed deliveries, 
and higher prices may limit our ability to provide services, or 
increase the costs of providing services, which could reduce our 

may become unavailable or may be unfavorable to us.

operations, and we currently have access to our credit facility to 
fund our necessary working capital and other capital requirements. 

amount of any outstanding letters of credit, and bears interest at a 

If our existing capital resources become unavailable, inadequate, 
or unfavorable for purposes of funding our capital requirements, 
we would need to raise additional funds through alternative debt 

when we need them or may not be available on favorable terms. 
If we fund our growth through the issuance of public equity, the 
holdings of stockholders will be diluted. If capital generated either 

Our international operations could have a material 
adverse effect on our business. 

not limited to, Africa, Canada, Argentina, China, Mexico, Latin 

include, but are not limited to, political changes, expropriation, 
currency restrictions and changes in currency exchange rates, 
taxes, boycotts and other civil disturbances. The occurrence of 
any one of these events could have a material adverse effect on 
our operations.

Increasing expectations from governments, customers, 
investors and other stakeholders regarding our 
environmental, social and governance (ESG) practices 
may affect our business, may create additional costs for 
us, or expose us to related risks.
Many companies are receiving greater attention from stakeholders 
regarding their ESG practices, as well as their oversight of relevant 
ESG issues. The various stakeholders are placing growing 
importance on our potential environmental and social issue 
risk exposure and the impact of our choices. Increased focus on 
ESG and related decision-making may negatively impact us as 
customers, investors and other stakeholders may choose to not 
work with us or reallocate capital or decline to make an investment 
as a result of their assessment of our ESG practices. Companies 
that do not comport with, or do not adapt to, these evolving 
investor and stakeholder ESG-related expectations and standards, 
or that are assessed as not having responded appropriately to 
the growing focus on ESG matters, may have their brand and 
reputation harmed, and the Company or our stock price may be 
adversely affected even though we may be in full compliance with 
all relevant laws and regulations.

We are planning to create and publish voluntary disclosures 
regarding ESG matters from time to time. To the extent that we 
report Green House Gas (GHG) emissions data, the methodologies 
that we use to calculate our emissions may change over time based 
upon changing industry standards. We note that standards and 
expectations regarding the processes for measuring and counting 
GHG emissions and GHG emission reductions are evolving, 
and it is possible that our approach to measuring our emissions 
maybe considered inconsistent with common or best practices 
with respect to measuring and accounting for such matters. If 
our approaches to such matters fall out of step with common or 

regulatory and investor engagement or litigation, any of which 

of operation.

Furthermore, the SEC has announced proposed rules that, among 
other matters, will establish a framework for reporting climate-
related risks. To the extent that any proposed rules impose 
additional reporting obligations, we could face increased costs. 
Separately, the SEC has also announced that it is scrutinizing 

increasing the potential for enforcement if the SEC were to allege 

change and other ESG factors when they select retirement 
investments and exercise shareholder rights, such as proxy 
voting. Should plan investors decide to not invest in us based on 
ESG factors, our business and access to capital may be negatively 
impacted. In 2023, the State of California enacted legislation that 

make broad-based climate-related disclosures starting as early as 

also considering various climate change disclosure requirements.
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In addition, ESG and climate change issues may cause consumer 
preference to shift toward other alternative sources of energy, 
lowering demand for oil and natural gas and consequently lowering 
demand for our services. In some areas these concerns have 
caused governments to adopt or consider adopting regulations 
to transition to a lower-carbon economy. These measures may 
include adoption of cap-and-trade programs, carbon taxes, 

certain types of equipment (such as new automobiles with internal 
combustion engines), and requirements for the use of alternate 
energy sources such as wind or solar. These types of programs 
may reduce the demand for oil and natural gas and consequently 
the demand for our services.

Approaches to climate change and a transition to a lower-carbon 
economy, including government regulation, company policies, 
and consumer behavior, are continuously evolving. At this time, 
we cannot predict how such approaches may develop or otherwise 

condition, results of operations and ability to compete. However, 
any long-term material adverse effect on the oil and gas industry 

RISK MANAGEMENT RISKS

Our business has potential liability for litigation, personal 
injury and property damage claims assessments.

of these events were to occur, it could result in liability for personal 

hazards or loss of production. Litigation may arise from a 
catastrophic occurrence at a location where our equipment and 
services are used. This litigation could result in large claims for 
damages. The frequency and severity of such incidents will 
affect our operating costs, insurability and relationships with 
customers, employees, and regulators. These occurrences could 
have a material adverse effect on us. We maintain what we believe 
is prudent insurance protection. We cannot assure you that we 
will be able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates 
we consider reasonable or that our insurance coverage will be 
adequate to cover future claims and assessments that may arise.

REGULATORY RISKS

Our operations may be adversely affected if we are unable 
to comply with regulations and environmental laws.

laws and other regulations relating to the oil and gas industry and 
by changes in such laws and the level of enforcement of such 
laws. We are unable to predict the level of enforcement of existing 
laws and regulations, how such laws and regulations may be 
interpreted by enforcement agencies or court rulings, or whether 
additional laws and regulations will be adopted. The adoption of 
laws and regulations curtailing exploration and development 

environmental, or other policy reasons would adversely affect 
our operations by limiting demand for our services. We also have 
potential environmental liabilities with respect to our offshore 

and onshore operations, and could be liable for cleanup costs, or 
environmental and natural resource damage due to conduct that 
was lawful at the time it occurred but is later ruled to be unlawful. 

damage due to the generation or disposal of hazardous substances 
in connection with our operations. We believe that our present 
operations substantially comply with applicable federal and 
state pollution control and environmental protection laws and 
regulations. We also believe that compliance with such laws has 
had no material adverse effect on our operations to date. However, 
such environmental laws are changed frequently. We are unable to 
predict whether environmental laws will, in the future, materially 

for noncompliance with these laws may include cancellation of 

Compliance with federal and state regulations relating 
to pressure pumping services, including hydraulic 
fracturing, could increase our operating costs, cause 
operational delays, and could reduce or eliminate the 
demand for our pressure pumping services.

federal, state and local regulatory oversight. This scrutiny is 
prompted in part by public concern regarding the potential 
impact on drinking and ground water and other environmental 
issues arising from the growing use of hydraulic fracturing. 
Among these regulatory entities is the White House Council on 
Environmental Quality, which coordinated a review of hydraulic 

House of Representatives investigated hydraulic fracturing 
practices and publicized information regarding the materials 
used in hydraulic fracturing. Compliance with federal and state 
regulations relating to pressure pumping services could increase 
our operating costs, cause operational delays, and could reduce or 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) also conducted a study of 
the environmental impact of hydraulic fracturing practices, and 
in 2015, issued a report which concluded that hydraulic fracturing 
had not caused a measurable impact on drinking water sources in 

carry positive implications for our industry; however, more 
stringent regulations could be imposed in the future, which could 
have a material adverse impact on our costs and our business.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR CAPITAL AND OWNERSHIP 

STRUCTURE

Our management and directors have a substantial 
ownership interest, and public stockholders may have 
no effective voice in the management of the Company.
The Company has elected the Controlled Corporation exemption 

Company Manual. The Company is a Controlled Corporation 
because a group that includes Gary W. Rollins, Pamela R. Rollins, 
Amy Rollins Kreisler and Timothy C. Rollins, each of whom is a 
director of the Company, and certain companies under their control 

voting power. As a Controlled Corporation, the Company need 
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and nominating committees. 

As a result, these stockholders effectively control the operations of 

corporate transactions such as acquisitions and other matters 
requiring stockholder approval. This concentration of ownership 
could also have the effect of delaying or preventing a third party 
from acquiring control over the Company at a premium.

The Controlling Group could take actions that could 

condition or stock price.
The Controlling Group may from time to time and at any time, in 
their sole discretion, acquire or cause to be acquired, additional 
equity or other instruments of the Company, its subsidiaries or 

to Company securities, or dispose or cause to be disposed, such 
equity or other securities or instruments, in any amount that the 
Controlling Group may determine in their sole discretion, through 
open market transactions, privately negotiated transactions or 
otherwise. In addition, depending upon a variety of factors, the 
Controlling Group may at any time engage in discussions with 

management, strategic alternatives and direction, and in their 
sole discretion, consider, formulate and implement various plans 
or proposals intended to enhance the value of their investment in 
the Company. In the event the Controlling Group were to engage in 
any of these actions, our common stock price could be negatively 
impacted, such actions could cause volatility in the market for 
our common stock or could have a material adverse effect on our 

Our management and directors have a substantial 
ownership interest, and the availability of the 
Company’s common stock to the investing public  
may be limited.

stock trading prices and affect the ability of minority stockholders 

negatively affect the trading price of our common stock.

bylaws may inhibit a takeover of RPC.

contain provisions including advance notice requirements for 
stockholder proposals and director nominations, and staggered 
terms for the Board of Directors. These provisions may make a 
tender offer, change in control or takeover attempt that is opposed 

RISKS RELATED TO DIGITAL OPERATIONS, 

CYBERSECURITY AND BUSINESS DISRUPTION.

Our operations rely on digital systems and processes 
that are subject to cyber attacks or other threats that 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
consolidated results of operations and consolidated 

We use these technologies and services for internal purposes, 
including data storage, processing and transmissions, as well as in 
our interactions with customers and suppliers. Digital technologies 

external threats. Internal threats in cybersecurity are caused by 
the misuse of access to networks and assets by individuals within 
the Company by maliciously or negligently disclosing, modifying 
or deleting sensitive information. Individuals within the Company 
include current employees, contractors and partners. External 
threats in cybersecurity are caused by unauthorized parties 
attempting to gain access to our networks and assets by exploiting 
security vulnerabilities or through the introduction of malicious 

In response to the risk of cyber attacks, we regularly review and 
update processes to prevent unauthorized access to our networks 
and assets and misuse of data. We provide regular security 
awareness training for appropriate employees, simulate phishing 
attempts and closely manage the accounts and privileges of 
all employees and contractors. In addition, we have adopted an 

management across several areas. We also maintain an up-to-date 
incident response plan to quickly address cybersecurity incidents. 
We have experienced unsuccessful cyberattack attempts to gain 
unauthorized access to our network. To date, these attacks have 
not had a material impact on our operations. 

If our systems for protecting against cybersecurity risks prove to 

things, loss of or damage to intellectual property, proprietary 

data, as well as, interruption of our business operations and 
increased costs required to prevent, respond to, or mitigate 
cybersecurity attacks. These risks could harm our reputation and 
our relationships with customers, suppliers, employees and other 
third parties, and may result in claims against us. These risks 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, consolidated 

GENERAL RISKS

Our common stock price has been volatile.
Historically, the market price of common stock of companies 
engaged in the oil and gas services industry has been highly 
volatile. Likewise, the market price of our common stock has 
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ITEM 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments 

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy
RPC approaches cybersecurity as an enterprise-wide risk and has 
created an accountability framework that includes oversight of 
cybersecurity risks. We have implemented policies and processes 
designed to detect, prevent, and respond to cybersecurity incidents. 
To help guide its overall program, RPC uses the Center for Internet 
Security (CIS) Controls framework to provide best practices for 

of version 8.0 of the CIS Controls which supports a Zero Trust 
architecture. RPC has created a cross-departmental team to 
continuously monitor and screen Company vendors (also known as 
partners and managed service providers) for vulnerabilities on their 

to mitigate risks potentially caused by third party breaches. We 
have completed an initial risk assessment for each vendor and 

initiative that is being guided by CIS Control Standards. 

Incident Response Policy (IRP), Data Loss Prevention Policy, 
and other policies regarding key areas of information security. 
These policies are reviewed periodically and updated as needed 
to address emerging risks or gaps in compliance. The IRP also 
includes guidance on internal and external escalation in the 
event of an incident or breach. RPC has not experienced a  
material cybersecurity incident to date. If a material cybersecurity 
breach occurs, the incident will be reviewed by the cybersecurity 
team to determine whether further escalation is appropriate. Any 
incident assessed as potentially being or becoming material will 
immediately be escalated for further assessment and reported 
to designated members of our executive leadership team and 
if deemed necessary, the Board of Directors, We plan to consult 
with outside counsel as appropriate, including on materiality 

determination regarding disclosure and other compliance 
decisions. We also plan to keep our independent public accounting 

The Company maintains a cyber liability insurance policy that 
is designed to cover certain expenses, business losses, business 

or other similar incident. Cyber liability insurance also provides 

coverage includes assistance in the timely remediation of material 
cyberattacks and incidents. 

have not been materially affected by risks from cybersecurity 

incidents, but we cannot provide assurance that they will not be 

materially affected in the future by such risks or any future material 
incidents. For more information on our cybersecurity related risks, 
see Item 1A Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

GOVERNANCE

Role of the Board
The Board is responsible for overseeing overall risk management 
for the Company, including review and approval of the enterprise 
risk management approach and processes implemented by 
management to identify, assess, manage, and mitigate risk, 
at least annually. The Board has delegated its responsibility 

security framework and risk management to the Audit Committee. 
The Audit Committee receives information and updates at least 
quarterly and actively engages with senior leaders with respect to 

security framework, data privacy, and risk management. In 
addition, the Audit Committee receives reports summarizing 
threat detection and mitigation plans, audits of internal controls, 

as well as timely updates from senior leaders on material 
incidents relating to information systems security, including 
cybersecurity incidents. The Audit Committee includes members 
with experience in risk management including cybersecurity.

Technology team including the Principal Security Architect. 
These key leaders collectively have over 50 years of experience in 
network security, cybersecurity and enterprise risk management. 

on cybersecurity matters, results of mitigation efforts related 
to existing risks and cybersecurity incident response and 
remediation. These leaders communicate closely with members 
of RPCs Information Security Committee (ISC) which oversees 

information security programs and ensures the effectiveness of 

practices. In addition, ISC provides oversight to ensure that security 

maintains business continuity and disaster recovery plans. RPC 
performs scheduled tabletop exercises periodically to evaluate 

in responding to cyber attacks from both a strategic and technical 
response perspective. 
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ITEM 2.

Properties

in Atlanta, Georgia that serves as its headquarters, a portion of which is allocated and charged to Marine Products Corporation. See the 
note titled Related Party Transactions. The lease agreement on the headquarters is effective through May 2031. RPC believes its current 

used in our operations are as follows:

Owned Locations
 >  

 >  

 >  

 >  
Pipe storage yard and inspection services

 >  
Pumping services facility

 >  

 >  

Leased Locations
 >  

 >  
Pumping services facility

 >  

 >  
Pumping services facility

 >  
Headquarters

ITEM 3.

Legal Proceedings

nature and amount of such insurance will, in every case, fully indemnify RPC against liabilities arising out of pending and future legal 

these lawsuits, legal proceedings and audit claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that the outcome of all such 

ITEM 4. 

Mine Safety Disclosures
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ITEM 5. 

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters  
and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

MARKET INFORMATION

DIVIDENDS

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Period

Total Number 
of Shares 
(or Units) 

Purchased

Average Price  
Paid Per 

Share 
(or Unit)

Total Number of Shares 
(or Units) Purchased 

as Part of Publicly 
Announced Plans  

or Programs(2)

 
(or Approximate  

Dollar Value) of Shares 

Be Purchased Under the 
Plans or Programs(2)

October 1, 2023, to October 31, 2023  314(1)  14,979,128

November 1, 2023, to November 30, 2023  14,979,128

December 1, 2023, December 31, 2023  1,200(2) 7.20  1,200,000  13,779,128

Total 1,514  1,200,000  13,779,128

(1) Represents shares repurchased by the Company in connection with taxes related to vesting of certain restricted shares. 
(2) The Company has a stock buyback program initially adopted in 1998 (and subsequently amended in 2013, 2021 and 2023) that authorized the repurchase of 

up to 49,578,125 shares in the aggregate. There were 1,200,000 shares purchased on the open market during the fourth quarter of 2023 and 13,779,128 shares 
remained available to be repurchased under the current authorization as of December 31, 2023. Currently the program does not have a predetermined 
expiration date.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21 12/31/22 12/31/23

RPC, Inc. 
Common Stock

Russell 
2000 Index

OSX Peer 
Group

COMPARISON OF FIVE-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

$0

$50

$100

$150

$200

* Assumes Reinvestment of Dividends

December 31,

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Base Period

RPC, Inc. Common Stock 78 

Russell 2000 Index 150 

OSX 104 

Peer Group 77 
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ITEM 6.

Reserved

ITEM 7. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OVERVIEW

included elsewhere in this document. See also Forward-Looking 
Statements on page 10.  Discussions of year-to-year comparisons 
of 2022 and 2021 items that are not included in this Form 10-K can 

report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, which 
Item is incorporated herein by reference.

engaged in exploration, production and development of oil and gas 

mid-continent, Gulf of Mexico, Rocky Mountain and Appalachian 

services to customers who operate oil and gas properties and 
invest capital to drill new wells and enhance production or perform 
maintenance on existing wells.

 > To focus our management resources on and invest our 
capital in equipment and geographic markets that we 
believe will earn high returns on capital.

 >
quickly to volatile industry conditions and business 
activity levels.

 >
remain a going concern and maintain our operational 
strength during protracted industry downturns.

 >

 > To optimize asset utilization with the goal of increasing 
revenues and generating leverage of direct and overhead 
costs, balanced against increasingly high maintenance 

during times of low customer pricing for our services.

 > To deliver products and services to our customers safely.

 > To secure adequate sources of supplies of raw materials 
used in our operations.To maintain and selectively 
increase market share.

 > To explore potential acquisitions that could increase our 
scale, bolster selected service lines, broaden our customer 

 > To maximize stockholder return by optimizing the balance 
between cash invested in the Company's productive 
assets, the payment of dividends to stockholders, and the 
repurchase of our common stock on the open market.

 > To align the interests of our management and stockholders.

condition and operating performance, management generally 
reviews periodic forecast data, monthly actual results, and other 
similar information. We also consider trends related to certain key 

and personnel, maintenance and repair expenses, pricing for 

invested capital. Additionally, we compare our trends to those of 
our peers. We continuously monitor factors that impact current 
and expected customer activity levels, such as the price of oil and 
natural gas, changes in pricing for our services and equipment and 

are affected by geopolitical factors such as political instability in 
the petroleum-producing regions of the world, overall economic 

Current industry conditions are characterized by oil prices which 

destabilized global oil markets, causing prices to rise, while also 

its oil and natural gas reserves, political stability and downstream 

domestic rig count has risen from a low of 244 in the third quarter 

completions have increased from 1,308 in the third quarter of 2020 
to 2,850 in the fourth quarter of 2023.

become an increasingly important determinant of global oil prices, 

decrease drilling and production activities more rapidly than the 

During the past several years, improved drilling and completion 

oil production to rise to record production levels, reaching 13.2 

Information Administration). 
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Customer activities directed towards natural gas drilling and 
production have been weak for many years because of the high 
production of shale-directed natural gas wells, the high amount 
of natural gas production associated with oil-directed shale wells 

 
gas production and steady demand has been a decline in the price 

during the third quarter of 2022 as the market assessed the impact 
of European sanctions against Russian natural gas imports. 
However, the price of natural gas fell during the fourth quarter of 
2022 and remained low throughout 2023 due to warm weather 

 

per Mcf, which was approximately 35.1% lower than at the same 
time in 2023. The Company believes that despite the decline in 
price, the favorable long-term outlook for natural gas provided 

customers to maintain their natural gas-directed exploration and 
production activities. 

basins has continued. During 2023, capital expenditures totaled 

fuel equipment, coupled with capitalized maintenance and 
upgrades of our existing equipment.

services in the Permian and Mid-Continent basins. The 

from its presence in South Texas to basins in which we currently 
provide other services. See note titled Business Acquisition for 
additional information.

compared to 2022. This increase was primarily due to an increase 
in cementing revenues due to the Spinnaker acquisition, partially 
offset by a decrease in pressure pumping activity. Cost of revenues 
increased 0.1% compared to the prior year, consistent with the 
slight increase in revenues.

Selling, general and administrative expenses during 2023 totaled 

was primarily due to costs related to the settlement of a vendor 
dispute during 2023 coupled with the incremental SG&A expenses 
from the recently acquired Spinnaker.

million of non-cash pension settlement charges. 

business activity levels in the fourth quarter of 2023 compared to 

partially offset by a decrease in net income, which included the 
non-cash pension settlement charges referenced above. As of 
December 31, 2023, there were no outstanding borrowings under 
our credit facility.

OUTLOOK

activity and can be impacted by economic developments as well 

maintain drilling and completion activities. 

rig count was directed towards oil, consistent with the prior year. 

of domestic drilling, and that natural gas-directed drilling will 

However, we believe that natural gas-directed drilling will increase 
in the future because of favorable long-term market dynamics. 

increased activity in most of the basins in which RPC operates. 

We continue to monitor the market for our services and the 
competitive environment, including the current trends and 
expectations with regard to environmental concerns and related 

been realized, and a number of our smaller competitors have 
ceased operations. We expect demand for our services will remain 
consistent with 2023 levels during the near term.

We have selectively upgraded our existing equipment to operate 
using multiple fuel sources and to take advantage of advances 
in technology and data collection. RPC continues to maintain 

equipment. We will remain highly disciplined about adding new 
incremental revenue-producing equipment capacity and will only 

allocating capital to maintain the capacity of our pressure pumping 

replacing existing older equipment sent out for refurbishment. 

services in the Permian and Mid-Continent basins. The acquisition 

Texas to basins in which we currently provide other services. See 
the note titled Business Acquisition for additional information.  
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2023 2022 2021

Consolidated revenues (in thousands) $  1,617,474 1,601,762  864,929

Revenues by business segment (in thousands):

Technical $  1,516,137  1,516,363  815,046

Support $  101,337  85,399  49,883

Consolidated operating income (in thousands) $  244,950   287,940  16,291

Operating income (loss) by business segment (in thousands):

Technical $  245,904  281,622  24,434

Support  26,461  18,095  (5,725)

Corporate  (18,473)  (17,660)  (13,300)

 (18,286)  (2,921)

Gain on disposition of assets, net $  9,344  8,804  10,882

Average U.S. domestic rig count  688  723  478

Average natural gas price (per thousand cubic feet (mcf)) $  2.54  6.44  3.92

Average oil price (per barrel) $  77.55  94.89  68.13

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023, COMPARED  

TO YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Revenues.
compared to 2022. Domestic revenues in 2023 increased 1.2% 
compared to the prior year. This increase was primarily due to an 
increase in cementing revenues due to the Spinnaker acquisition, 
partially offset by a decrease in pressure pumping activity. In 
addition to the growth in cementing, other service lines that 
contributed to revenue growth included coiled tubing, nitrogen, 
downhole tools and rental tools.  International revenues in 2023 of 

due to a continued emphasis on domestic rather than international 
expansion because of higher domestic activity levels and expected 

lower, and the average price of natural gas was 60.6% lower, both 
as compared to the prior year. The average domestic rig count for 
2023 was 4.8% lower than the prior year.   

2023 and 2022. Technical Services reported operating income of 

million in the prior year. Support Services segment revenues for 
2023 increased by 18.7% compared to the prior year, primarily 
due to higher activity levels within rental tools. Support Services 

Cost of revenues.
unchanged compared to the prior year. In accordance with 
SAB Topic 11.B, cost of revenues presented on the Consolidated 

prior year.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general 

primarily due to costs related to the settlement of a vendor dispute 
coupled with the incremental SG&A expenses from the recently 
acquired Spinnaker business.

Pension settlement charges. Pension settlement charges (non-

settlement charge in the prior year. See note titled Employee 

for more information. 

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization 
 

to capital expenditures in the past year coupled with amortization 
of acquired intangible assets expenses related to the acquired 
Spinnaker business.

Gain on disposition of assets, net. Gain on disposition of assets, 

net is generally comprised of gains and losses related to various 
property and equipment dispositions or sales to customers of lost 
or damaged rental equipment.

Other income, net.

Interest expense and interest income.

Interest expense includes facility fees on the unused portion of the 
credit facility and the amortization of loan costs. Interest income 

year due to a higher average cash balance coupled with higher 
investment yields. 

Income tax provision.
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, compared to 

tax rate was 23.9% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023, 
compared to a 24.6% effective tax rate for the twelve months ended 
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December 31, 2022. The decrease in the 2023 effective tax rate is Net income and diluted earnings per share.  

earnings per share. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash and Cash Flows
 

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Net cash provided by operating activities $  394,763  201,286  47,719

Net cash used for investing activities  (241,712)  (123,715)  (47,631)

 (56,165)  (33,580)  (2,151)

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 

December 31, 2022. Cash provided by operating activities for 
the year ended December 31, 2023, includes net income of  

in other components of our working capital (accounts payable, 

favorable changes in working capital were the result of decreased 
business activity levels during the fourth quarter of 2023 compared 
to the same period in the prior year. 

Cash used for investing activities for 2023 increased by  

the acquisition of Spinnaker during the second quarter of 2023, 
coupled with an increase in capital expenditures primarily due to 
the timing of new equipment deliveries.

 

paid to common stockholders, coupled with repurchases during 

restricted shares. These uses were partially offset by a decrease in 

resumed dividend payments to common stockholders during the 
third quarter of 2022.

Financial Condition and Liquidity

liquidity provided by our existing cash and cash equivalents and 

meet our requirements for at least the next twelve months. The 

position, and the expected amount of cash to be provided by 
operations.  RPC does not expect to utilize our revolving credit 
facility to meet these liquidity requirements in the near term.

facility contains customary terms and conditions, including 
restrictions on indebtedness, dividend payments, business 
combinations and other related items. In the second quarter 

of 2023, the Company further amended the revolving credit 
facility. Among other matters, the amendment (1) extends 

 

option in connection with revolving loan borrowings and reduces 
the applicable rate margins by approximately 25.0 basis points at 

rate borrowings, (4) permits the issuance of letters of credit in 

no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility, and 
letters of credit outstanding relating to self-insurance programs 

million of the facility was available. The Company is currently 

Cash Requirements

million in 2024, which will be directed towards both capitalized 

selected growth opportunities. The Company is allocating capital 

will depend primarily on equipment maintenance requirements, 
expansion opportunities, and equipment delivery schedules. 

in 2021.

The Company has ongoing sales and use tax audits in various 

Company has recorded the exposure from these audits to the 
extent issues are resolved or are probable and can be reasonably 
estimated. There are issues that could result in unfavorable 
outcomes that cannot be currently estimated.

terminated through a liquidation of the assets held in a trust and 
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The Company has a stock buyback program to repurchase up 
to 49,578,125 shares in the open market, including an additional 
8,000,000 shares authorized for repurchase by the Board of 
Directors in the second quarter of 2023. There were 2,469,056 
shares repurchased on the open market during 2023 and 
13,779,128 shares remained available to be repurchased under 
the current authorization as of December 31, 2023. The Company 
may repurchase outstanding common shares periodically based 
on market conditions and our capital allocation strategies 
considering restrictions under our credit facility. The stock 
buyback program does not have a predetermined expiration date. 

Cash Paid for Common Stock Purchased and Retired.

to common stockholders of record at the close of business on 
February 9, 2024. The Company expects to continue to pay cash 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

payments include our credit facility, certain non-cancelable 
leases, purchase obligations, amounts related to the usage of 
corporate aircraft and other long-term liabilities. See note to 

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

inputs used for valuation. Assets and liabilities that are traded on 

Company currently has no assets or liabilities measured on a 
recurring basis that are valued using unobservable inputs and 
therefore no assets or liabilities measured on a recurring basis are 

Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) investments measured at net 
asset value, the values are computed using inputs such as cost, 

based comparable data or on net asset values calculated by the 
fund when not publicly available.

INFLATION

The Company purchases its equipment and materials from 
suppliers who provide competitive prices and employ skilled 

and labor could increase as well. In addition, increases in activity 

the labor markets from which it hires employees, especially if 
employment in the general economy increases. Also, activity 
increases can cause supply disruptions and higher costs of 

certain materials and key equipment components used to provide 

and labor shortages caused by the departure of skilled labor from 

moderated during 2023 but remain high by historical standards.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Company does not have any material off balance 
sheet arrangements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Party Transactions for a description of related party transactions.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

the appropriate assumptions for calculating accounting estimates. 

existing contracts, trends in the industry, and information available 
from other outside sources, as appropriate. Senior management 
has discussed the development, selection and disclosure of its 

estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. The 
Company believes the following critical accounting policies involve 

Credit loss allowance for accounts receivable — Substantially all of 

loss allowance is determined using a combination of factors to 
estimate the risk of uncollectibility so that our receivables are 

seek to minimize the amount of business we conduct with higher 

gas. Credit loss allowance for accounts receivable is recorded in 
selling, general and administrative expenses. Accounts are written 
off against the allowance when the Company determines that 
amounts are uncollectible and recoveries of amounts previously 

generally reduce the required provision in the period of recovery, 

to a customer change, our estimate of the realizability of the 

The estimated credit loss allowance is based on our evaluation of 

of our customers, our historical write-off experience, current 
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economic conditions, and in the case of international customers, 

the related country and region. In addition to reserves established 

different percentages depending on the age of the receivables 

and the economic strength of our customers. The net credit loss 
allowance as a percentage of revenues ranged from 0.4% to 0.8% 
over the last three years. Increasing or decreasing the estimated 
general reserve percentage by 0.50 percentage points as of 

in the recorded provision for current expected credit losses.

Insurance expenses — The Company self-insures, up to certain 

of claims under these self-insurance programs is estimated and 
accrued using individual case-based valuations and statistical 

however, the ultimate cost of many of these claims may not be 
known for several years. These claims are monitored, and the 
cost estimates are revised as developments occur relating to such 
claims. The Company has retained an independent third-party 
actuary to assist in the calculation of a range of exposure for these 
claims. As of December 31, 2023, the Company estimates the range 

Long-lived assets including goodwill — RPC carries a variety of 
long-lived assets on its balance sheet including property, plant 
and equipment and goodwill.  Impairment is the condition that 
exists when the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds 
its fair value.  Goodwill is the excess of the cost of an acquired 
entity over the net of the amounts assigned to assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. The Company conducts impairment tests on 
goodwill annually, during the fourth quarter, or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate an impairment 
may exist. The Company completes a qualitative assessment to 
determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a 
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. 
Assessment of goodwill impairment is conducted at the level of 
each reporting unit, which is the same as our reportable segments, 
Technical Services and Support Services, comparing the estimated 

value, including goodwill. The fair value of each reporting unit 
is estimated using an income approach and a market approach. 

regarding discount rates, revenue growth rates, expected 

If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying 
amount, the goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered 
impaired. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds 
its estimated fair value, an impairment loss is measured and 
recorded. For goodwill, there are no current events that indicate 

the economic uncertainty, it is possible that circumstances could 

change that would result in the need for impairment testing.

In addition, the Company conducts impairment tests on long-
lived assets, other than goodwill, whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. For the impairment testing on long-lived assets, other 
than goodwill, a long-lived asset is grouped at the lowest level for 

of the asset group are compared to its carrying amount. If the 

amount, then the Company is required to determine the asset 

term and long-term forecast of operating performance, including 

estimates of the remaining useful life and service potential of 
the assets within the asset group, and a discount rate based on 
weighted average cost of capital. An impairment loss is measured 
and recorded as the amount by which the asset group's carrying 
amount exceeds its fair value.  

Acquisition of business — In accounting for our acquisitions, 
we evaluate whether a transaction pertains to an acquisition of 

as an integrated set of assets and activities that is capable of 
being conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a 
return. Asset acquisitions are accounted for by allocating the 
cost of the acquisition to the individual assets and liabilities 
assumed on a relative fair value basis; whereas the acquisition of 
a business requires assets acquired and the liabilities assumed to 
be recognized at the acquisition date fair values, separately from 
goodwill. The excess of consideration transferred over the net 
of the acquisition date fair values of the assets acquired and the 
liabilities assumed, is recorded as goodwill.  The Company uses 
its best estimates and assumptions to accurately value assets 
acquired, and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date as well as 
any contingent consideration, where applicable.  However, these 

a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one 
year from the business acquisition date, the Company may have to 

of the values of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever 

consolidated statements of operations.

Accounting for business combinations requires management to 

acquisition date, including estimates for intangible assets, pre-
acquisition contingencies and any contingent consideration, 
where applicable. Although management believes that the 
assumptions and estimates the Company has made in the past 
have been reasonable and appropriate, they are based in part 
on historical experience and information obtained from the 

and circumstances may occur that may affect the accuracy or 
validity of such assumptions, estimates or actual results.
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Part II 

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Accounting Policies, which is incorporated herein by reference 

for a description of recent accounting standards, including the 
expected dates of adoption and estimated effects on results of 

ITEM 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

borrowings on its revolving credit facility. As of December 31, 2023, 
there were no outstanding interest-bearing advances on our credit 

Additionally, the Company is exposed to market risk resulting from 

expected to have a material effect on its consolidated results of 
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ITEM 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
To the Stockholders of RPC, Inc.:

Company. RPC, Inc. maintains a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance, at a reasonable cost, 

This system includes policies that require adherence to ethical business standards and compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any controls system. A controls system, no matter how well designed and operated, 

can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and any instances of fraud, if any, within the Company will be detected. Further, 

relative to their costs. 

statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023.

December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in the  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 

reporting, included in this report on page 34.

 
Ben M. Palmer Michael L. Schmit

 
 Corporate Secretary

Atlanta, Georgia 
February 28, 2024
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
Board of Directors and Stockholders 
RPC, Inc.

OPINION ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

BASIS FOR OPINION

testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

DEFINITION AND LIMITATIONS OF INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance 
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 

statements.

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

GRANT THORNTON LLP

Atlanta, Georgia 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
Board of Directors and Stockholders 
RPC, Inc.

OPINION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

BASIS FOR OPINION 

fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the 

provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

CRITICAL AUDIT MATTERS 

communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material 

critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Valuation of trade names and trademarks and customer relationship  
intangible assets related to the acquisition of Spinnaker Oilwell Services, LLC 

The principal consideration for our determination that the valuation of trade names and trademarks and customer relationships is a 

in the valuation models used to determine fair value. Those key assumptions include revenue growth rates, forecasted EBITDA, customer 
attrition rates, discount rates, and royalty rates. 

 >
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revenue growth rates, royalty rates, customer attrition rates, forecasted EBITDA and discount rates used in determining fair value.

 > We evaluated the appropriateness of the Company's forecasted revenue growth rates used to value trade names and trademarks 
and customer relationship intangible assets by (1) comparing forecasted revenue growth rates to forecasted industry growth rates 
and available market data and (2) comparing forecasted revenue growth rates to historical growth rates of the acquired entity. 

 >
(1) comparing forecasted EBITDA margin to historical EBITDA margin and (2) comparing forecasted EBITDA margin to available 
industry and market data. 

 >
estimated customer attrition rates used to value the customer relationship intangible assets to historical customer retention 
data of the acquired company, compared the discount rates used to value the trade names and trademarks and customer 
relationship intangible assets to independently developed discount rates derived from publicly available data for comparable 
companies, and compared the royalty rates used to value the trade names and trademarks to royalty rates derived from publicly 
available data for comparable companies.

GRANT THORNTON LLP

Atlanta, Georgia 
February 28, 2024
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

RPC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(in thousands except share information)

2023 2022
ASSETS

$  223,310  126,424
 324,915  416,568
 110,904  97,107
 52,269  42,403
 12,907  17,753
 2,768  3,086

Total current assets  727,073  703,341
 

and $775,334 in 2022  435,139  333,093

 24,537  28,864
 1,036

 50,824  32,150
 12,825  1,084
 35,411  30,481

Total assets $  1,286,845  1,129,013
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

LIABILITIES
$  85,036  115,213

 30,956  33,161
 5,340  3,232
 4,461  4,296

 275  499
 15,743

 —  9,610
 7,367  10,728

 375
 2,304  1,864

 151,857  178,603
 10,202  7,149
 23,724  23,106
 51,290  37,473
 18,600  19,517

 819
 7,840  5,430

 264,332  271,278

—
 

and 216,609,191 shares issued and outstanding in 2023 and 2022, respectively
 21,502  21,661

 —
 1,003,380  856,013

 (2,369)  (19,939)
 1,022,513  857,735

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $  1,286,845  1,129,013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

RPC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(in thousands except per share data)

Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021
Revenues $  1,617,474  1,601,762  864,929
COSTS AND EXPENSES:

shown separately below) 
 1,089,519  1,088,115  663,262

 165,940  148,573  123,572
 18,286  2,921

 108,123  83,017  72,686
 (9,344)  (8,804)  (10,882)

 244,950  287,940  16,291
 (341)  (614)  (1,929)

 8,599  1,171  59
 3,035  1,135  2,027

 256,243  289,632  16,448
 61,130  71,269  9,231

Net income $  195,113  218,363  7,217
Earnings per share

Basic $  0.90  1.01  0.03
Diluted $  0.90  1.01  0.03

Dividends paid per share $  0.16  0.04

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

RPC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021 

Net income $  195,113  218,363  7,217

Other comprehensive income:

 17,307  764  (2,890)

 263  5  (112)

Comprehensive income $  212,683  219,132  4,215

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Part II 
Item 8. — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data



40 RPC, INC.  2023 10-K

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

RPC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(in thousands)

Capital in 
Excess of 
Par Value

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Common Stock Retained 
EarningsShares Amount Total

Balance, December 31, 2020  214,951

Stock issued for stock incentive plans, net  819  82  6,494  6,576

Stock purchased and retired  (141)  (14)  (6,494)  5,941  (567)

Net income  7,217  7,217

Pension adjustment, net of taxes  (2,890)  (2,890)

Foreign currency translation  (112)  (112)

Balance, December 31, 2021  215,629  21,563  640,936  (20,708)  641,791

Stock issued for stock incentive plans, net  1,139  114  6,261  6,375

Stock purchased and retired  (159)  (16)  (6,261)  5,359  (918)

Net income  218,363  218,363

Pension settlement and adjustment, net of tax  764  764

Foreign currency translation  5  5

Dividends  (8,645)  (8,645)

Balance, December 31, 2022  216,609   21,661      856,013  (19,939)     857,735

Stock issued for stock incentive plans, net  1,143  114  7,767  —  —  7,881

Stock purchased and retired  (2,726)  (273)  (7,767)  (13,184)  —  (21,224)

Net income  —  —  —  195,113  —  195,113

Pension settlement and adjustment, net of tax  —  —  —  —  17,307  17,307

Foreign currency translation  —  —  —  —  263  263

Dividends —  —  —  (34,562)  —  (34,562)

Balance, December 31, 2023  215,026 $ 21,502 $           — $ 1,003,380 $ (2,369) $ 1,022,513

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

RPC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $  195,113  218,363  7,217
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

 108,123  83,017  72,686
 7,881  6,375  6,576

 (9,344)  (8,804)  (10,882)
 8,647  19,496  4,888

 18,286  2,921
 126  647  (180)

(Increase) decrease in assets:
 104,574  (157,894)  (91,082)

 (9,866)  16,101  24,439
 (12,341)  (18,413)  3,951

 5,233  (7,980)  (650)
 311  406  90

 (1,285)  9,306  (1,170)
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:

 (34,519)  35,759  32,900
 (224)  (157)  (459)

 15,743
 (2,223)  17,864  (3,080)
 (5,419)
 2,108  (6,897)  4,640

 165  2,391  (883)
 (5,732)  (3,703)  (4,061)

 618  (4,589)  (1,065)
 3,053  (4,621)  (52)
 5,735  1,698  3,896

Net cash provided by operating activities  394,763  201,286  47,719
INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Capital expenditures  (181,005)  (139,552)  (67,645)
Proceeds from sale of assets  18,091  15,837  20,014
Purchase of business  (78,798)
Net cash used for investing activities  (241,712)  (123,715)  (47,631)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES       
Payment of dividends  (34,562)  (8,645)
Cash paid for common stock purchased and retired  (21,088)  (918)  (567)

 (515)  (24,017)  (1,584)
 (56,165)  (33,580)  (2,151)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  96,886  43,991  (2,063)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  126,424  82,433  84,496
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $  223,310  126,424  82,433

$  62,226  35,809  (20,903)
 166  170  166

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing activities:
$  9,036  9,334  4,282
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RPC, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTE 1.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

RPC, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (RPC or the Company). 

eliminated.

the presentation in the current year.

Common Stock
RPC is authorized to issue 349,000,000 shares of common stock, 

dividends when, as, and if declared by the Board of Directors out of 
legally available funds. Each share of common stock is entitled to 
one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. Holders 
of common stock do not have cumulative voting rights. In the 
event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, 
holders of common stock are entitled to ratable distribution of the 
remaining assets available for distribution to stockholders.

Preferred Stock
RPC is authorized to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, 

to any limitations prescribed by law, to provide for the issuance 
of preferred stock as a class without series or, if so determined 

the designations, powers, preferences and rights, exchangeability 
for shares of any other class or classes of stock. Any preferred stock 
to be issued could rank prior to the common stock with respect to 
dividend rights and rights on liquidation.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of  
Financial Statements

of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at 

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.

loss allowance, income taxes, goodwill and other impairment 
assessments, accrued insurance expenses and acquisition of 
business.

Revenues
RPC recognizes revenues from contracts with its customers 
based on the amount of consideration it receives in exchange 

statements titled Revenues for additional information.

Concentration of Credit Risk

oil and gas industry. This concentration of customers may impact 
overall exposure to credit risk, either positively or negatively, in 
that customers may be similarly affected by changes in economic 
and industry conditions. There were no customers in 2023 that 

services to several hundred customers during each of the past three 

revenues in 2022. There were no other customers in 2022 and no 
customers in 2021 exceeding 10% of revenues. In addition, there was 
one customer that accounted for approximately 10% of accounts 
receivable as of December 31, 2023. There were no other customers 
as of December 31, 2023, and no customers as of December 31, 2022, 
that accounted for 10% or more of accounts receivable.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months 
or less when acquired are considered to be cash equivalents. The 
Company maintains its cash in bank accounts which, at times, may 
exceed federally insured limits. RPC maintains cash equivalents 

investment grade by national rating services.

Investments

at their fair values, with all gains and losses included in other 
income. The Company recorded gains on its available-for-sale 

information regarding the SERP. The change in fair value of trading 
securities is presented as compensation cost in selling, general 
and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of 
operations.

investments at the time of purchase and re-evaluates such 
designations as of each balance sheet date.

Accounts Receivable

exploration and production companies. Credit is extended based 

collateral is not required. Accounts receivable are considered past 
due after 60 days and are stated at amounts due from customers, 
net of a credit loss allowance.
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Credit Loss Allowance for Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are carried at the amounts due from 
customers, reduced by an allowance for estimated amounts that 
may not be collectible in the future. The estimated credit loss 

condition of customers, historical write-off experience, current 
economic conditions, and in the case of international customers, 

related country and region. Accounts receivable balances are 
written off when determined to be uncollectible and recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are recorded when collected.

Inventories
Inventories, which consist principally of (i) raw materials and 

customers, (ii) spare parts for equipment used in providing these 
services and (iii) components and attachments for manufactured 
equipment used in providing services, are recorded at the lower 
of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the 

ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of 
completion, disposal and transportation. The Company regularly 
reviews inventory quantities on hand and records a write-down 
for excess or obsolete inventory based primarily on its estimated 
forecast of product demand, market conditions, production 
requirements and technological developments.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment, including software costs, are 
reported at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, 
which is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets. Annual depreciation and amortization 
expenses are computed using the following useful lives: operating 
equipment, 3 to 20 years; buildings and leasehold improvements, 

years; software, 5 years; and vehicles, 3 to 5 years. The cost of assets 
retired or otherwise disposed of and the related accumulated 
depreciation and amortization are eliminated from the accounts 
in the year of disposal with the resulting gain or loss credited or 
charged to income from operations. Expenditures for additions, 

maintaining the asset in good working order constitute repairs 
and maintenance and are expensed as incurred.

RPC records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in 
operations when events and circumstances indicate that the 

estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the 
carrying amount of those assets. The Company periodically 
reviews the values assigned to long-lived assets, such as 
property, plant and equipment, to determine if any impairments 
should be recognized. There was no impairment recorded during 
2023, 2022 or 2021.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets of businesses acquired. The following is a summary 
of the changes in Goodwill by reporting unit:

(in thousands) 
Technical 
Services

Support 
Services Total

Beginning balance at December 31, 2022 $  30,992  1,158  32,150

Business acquisition (see note titled Business Acquisition)  18,674  18,674

Ending balance at December 31, 2023 $  49,666 $  1,158 $  50,824

Goodwill is reviewed annually, or more frequently, if events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the 
fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount, for impairment. In both 2022 and 2023 , due to improved industry conditions, 

goodwill and concluded that it is more likely than not that fair value of each of its reporting units is more than the carrying amounts, 
including goodwill. Based on these assessments the Company concluded that the fair value of its reporting units exceeded their carrying 
amounts and therefore no impairment of goodwill occurred during the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022.

Advertising
Advertising expenses are charged to expense during the period in 

Insurance Expenses

equipment liability, and employee health insurance plan costs. The 
estimated cost of claims under these self-insurance programs is 
estimated and accrued as the claims are incurred (although actual 
settlement of the claims may not be made until future periods) and 
may subsequently be revised based on developments relating to 

such claims. The portion of these estimated outstanding claims 

as long-term accrued insurance expenses.

Income Taxes
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on 

and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in 
which the differences are expected to reverse. The Company 
establishes a valuation allowance against the carrying value 
of deferred tax assets when the Company determines that it is 
more likely than not that the asset will not be realized through 
future taxable income.
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to its participants based on the various provisions contained 
therein. The Company initiated actions to terminate the Plan 
in 2021 and it was fully terminated in 2023.  See note titled 

settlement losses.

Share Repurchases

equity as a reduction to common stock to the extent of par value 
of the shares acquired and the remainder is allocated to capital in 
excess of par value and retained earnings if capital in excess of par 
value is depleted. The Company tracks capital in excess of par value 
on a cumulative basis for each reporting period and discloses the 
excess over capital in excess of par value as part of stock purchased 

Earnings Per Share
Basic and diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during 
the respective periods.  In addition, the Company has periodically issued share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights 

restricted stock granted to employees. 

Restricted shares of common stock (participating securities) outstanding and a reconciliation of weighted average shares outstanding is 
as follows:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Net income available for stockholders $  195,113  218,363  7,217

Less: Adjustments for earnings attributable to participating securities  (3,099)  (3,197)  (89)

Net income used in calculating earnings per share $  192,014  215,166  7,128

Weighted average shares outstanding (including participating securities)  216,472  216,518  215,646

Adjustment for participating securities  (3,545)  (3,187)  (2,656)

Shares used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share  212,927  213,331  212,990

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, investments, accounts 
payable, and debt. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their 
fair value due to the short-term nature of such instruments. 

securities with the exception of investments held in the non-

these securities are carried at fair value in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets. See note titled Fair Value Disclosures 
for additional information.

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense is recognized for all share-
based payment awards, net of estimated forfeitures. Thus, 
compensation cost is amortized for those shares expected to 
vest on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period  

 
additional information.

Leases
The Company determines at contract inception if an arrangement 
is a lease or contains a lease based on whether the Company 

property, plant and equipment for a period of time in exchange for 

and warehouses, in addition to vehicles, storage containers and 

Company has elected not to separate non-lease components from 
lease components for its leases. Variable lease payments relate 
primarily to taxes and insurance on real estate contracts and are 
recognized as expense when incurred. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
The Financial Accounting Standards Board issued the following 
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS UPDATE (ASU) No. 2021-08: Business 
Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets 
and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers: The 

the accounting for revenue contracts with customers acquired in a 
business combination, by adopting guidance requiring an acquirer 
to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities 
acquired in a business combination in accordance with Topic 606. 
At the acquisition date, an acquirer would recognize and measure 
the acquired contract assets and contract liabilities in the same 
manner that they were recognized and measured in the acquiree's 

these provisions in the second quarter of 2023 prospectively for 
future acquisitions. For the acquisition completed effective in the 
third quarter of 2023, the Company has recognized the contract 
assets and contract liabilities in the same manner as the acquiree.  
See note titled Business Acquisition for additional information.  

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
ASU No. 2023-07: Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements 
to Reportable Segment Disclosures: 
require an entity to disclose the title and position of the Chief 

amendments are effective for annual disclosures beginning in 

with early adoption permitted. These amendments are effective 

statements. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of 

ASU No. 2023-09: Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to 
Income Tax Disclosures: 
entity to include consistent categories and greater disaggregation 
of information in the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid, 

for annual disclosures beginning in 2025, with early adoption 

been issued. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of 

NOTE 2:  BUSINESS ACQUISITION

acquisition of all of the outstanding equity interests in Spinnaker 

(Merger Agreement) with Catapult Energy Services Group, LLC, as 
the representative of the Sellers.

Mid-Continent basins. Spinnaker operates two facilities located 

expanded RPC's cementing business from its presence in South 
Texas to basins in which it currently provides other services.  
Spinnaker is included in our Technical Services Segment.

the year ended December 31, 2023, and included in Selling, general 
and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of 

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination with 
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed measured at their fair 
values as of the acquisition date, primarily using Level 3 inputs.

value. The excess of the acquisition consideration over the 
estimated fair values of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities 
has been assigned to goodwill which is primarily attributable to 

the valuation of the acquired assets and closed the measurement 
period.

Fair Value
(in thousands) as of July 1, 2023

Accounts receivable $  12,836

Inventories  1,373

Prepaid and other current assets  384

Accounts payable  (4,499)

Property, plant and equipment  37,374

Operating lease right-of-use assets  46

Current portion of operating lease liabilities  (31)

Long-term operating lease liabilities  (15)

Finance lease right-of-use assets  1,165

 (247)

 (944)

Goodwill  18,674

Other intangibles  13,200

Total consideration  79,316

 (518)

Total cash consideration $  78,798

The fair value of receivables acquired approximates the gross 
contractual value.  The contractual amount not expected to be 
collected is immaterial.  The fair value of acquired inventory was 
based on the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost 
determined using the weighted-average cost method.

Property, plant and equipment is comprised of buildings and 
leasehold improvements, machinery and equipment, vehicles, 
land, and information technology. The estimated fair value was 
determined using the cost and market approaches. 
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The Company assumed the following leases and obligations as of 

with a remaining lease term of approximately 4.5 years; three 
spreads under failed sale and lease back arrangements with 

with a remaining lease term of approximately 1.5 years. There were 
no favorable or unfavorable market terms for the leases.  Details 
regarding the lease costs and remaining lease obligations on the 
existing leases related to Spinnaker have been included in the 
footnote titled Leases. The obligations related to failed sale and 
leaseback arrangements are being reported as part of current 

Acquired intangible assets include customer relationships, trade 
names and trademarks. Intangible assets were valued using the 
multi-period excess earnings and relief-from-royalty methods, 
both forms of the income approach which considers a forecast 

intangible assets:

(in thousands) Fair Value

Weighted- 
Average 

Amortization 
Period (Years)

Customer Relationships $  10,000  10

Trade Names and Trademarks  3,200  10
Total Amortizable Intangible 
Assets $  13,200

Revenues and net income of Spinnaker included in the Company's 

are as follows:

(in thousands)
Six months ended  
December 31, 2023

Revenues $  44,830

Net income  4,727

businesses.

prepared using the acquisition method of accounting and is 

operations would have been had the acquisition been completed 

achieved from synergies of combining Spinnaker and RPC.

The following table provides unaudited supplemental pro forma 

(in thousands) 2023 2022
Revenues $  1,669,231  1,689,559

Net income  204,222  234,284

NOTE 3:  REVENUES

Accounting Policy

pricing with the customer prior to the services being delivered and 
given the nature of the services, do not include the right of return. 
Pricing for these services is a function of rates based on the nature 

performance obligations over time as the services are performed. 
RPC records revenues based on the transaction price agreed upon 
with its customers.

Sales tax charged to customers is presented on a net basis within 
the consolidated statements of operations and therefore excluded 
from revenues.

Nature of Services

exploration, production and development of oil gas properties 

markets. RPC manages its business as either (1) services offered on 
the well site with equipment and personnel (Technical Services) 
or (2) services and tools offered off the well site (Support Services). 
For more detailed information about operating segments, see note 
titled Business Segment and Entity wide Disclosures.

RPC contracts with its customers to provide the following services 
by reportable segment:

Technical Services
 > Includes pressure pumping, downhole tools services, coiled tubing, 

Support Services
 > Rental tools – RPC rents tools to its customers for use with 

onshore and offshore oil and gas well drilling, completion and 
workover activities.

 >
management and storage; well control training; and consulting.

and generally consist of a single performance obligation – the 
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Payment Terms

including the description, quantity, and price of each service to 

in nature and in most situations, RPC provides services ahead of 

to submitting a customer invoice. RPC invoices the customer upon 

between 30 to 60 days after invoicing. As the Company enters into 
contracts with its customers, it generally expects there to be no 

provided to the customer (satisfaction of the performance obligation) 
and the date cash consideration is received. Accordingly, there is no 

RPC believes the output method is a reasonable measure of 
progress for the satisfaction of our performance obligations, which 

performance toward complete satisfaction of the performance 
obligation under the contract and (2) the value transferred to the 
customer of the services performed under the contract. RPC has 
elected the right to invoice practical expedient for recognizing 
revenue related to its performance obligations.

Disaggregation of Revenues
See note titled Business Segment and Entity Wide Disclosures 
for disaggregation of revenue by operating segment and 
services offered in each of them and by geographic regions. 
Timing of revenue recognition for each of the periods presented 
is shown below:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

transferred at a 
point in time $  —

transferred over 
time  1,617,474  1,601,762  864,929

Total revenues $ 1,617,474  1,601,762  864,929

Contract Balances

for work completed but not billed are included in Accounts 
receivable, net on the consolidated balance sheets are shown below:

Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022
Unbilled trade receivables $  59,831  103,498

Substantially all of the unbilled trade receivables as of December 
31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, were invoiced during the 
following quarter.

Unearned revenue
Contract liabilities represent the payments received in advance 

recognized over time as the service is performed. For the year 

Sheets. There was no unearned revenue recorded for the year 
ended December 31, 2022.

NOTE 4:  DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

Depreciation and amortization disclosed in the Consolidated 

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Cost of revenues $  97,685  74,294  63,068

Selling, general 
and administrative 
expenses  10,438  8,723  9,618

Total $  108,123  83,017  72,686

NOTE 5:  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable, net consists of the following:

(in thousands)  
At December 31, 2023 2022
Trade receivables:

$  271,515  315,332

 59,831  103,498

Other receivables  678  4,816

 332,024  423,646

Less: allowance for credit losses  (7,109)  (7,078)

Accounts receivable, net $  324,915  416,568

Trade receivables relate to revenues generated from equipment 
and services, for which credit is extended based on our evaluation 

revenues earned but not billed to the customer until future dates, 

net amounts receivable from an agent that operates internationally, 
as well as amounts due from the favorable resolution of state tax 
audits and rebates due from suppliers.
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NOTE 6:  CURRENT EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES

The Company utilizes an expected credit loss model for valuing its 

The Company is exposed to credit losses primarily from providing 

accounts receivable is based on historical collection experience, 
current and future economic and market conditions and a review 

Due to the short-term nature of such receivables, the estimated 
amount of accounts receivable that may not be collected is based 

are established to record the appropriate provision for customers 

activities include timely account reconciliation, dispute resolution, 

condition and macroeconomic conditions. Balances are written 
off when determined to be uncollectible and recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are recorded when collected.  

The following table provides a roll-forward of the allowance for 
credit losses that is deducted from the amortized cost basis of 
accounts receivable to present the net amount expected to be 
collected:

(in thousands)  
Years Ended December 31, 2023 2022
Beginning balance $  7,078  6,765

Provision for current expected 
credit losses  2,656  2,029

Write-offs  (2,737)  (1,752)

Recoveries collected  
(net of expenses)  112  36

Ending balance $  7,109  7,078

NOTE 7:  INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of (i) raw materials and supplies that are 

spare parts for equipment used in providing these services and 
(iii) components and attachments for manufactured equipment 

used in providing services.  In the table below, spare parts and 
components are included as part of raw materials and supplies; 
tools that are assembled using components are reported as 

out, or the weighted average cost method.

(in thousands)  
December 31, 2023 2022

Raw materials and supplies  109,872  95,384

Finished goods  1,032  1,723

Total inventory  110,904  97,107

NOTE 8:  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are presented at cost net of 
accumulated depreciation and consist of the following:

(in thousands)  
December 31, 2023 2022
Land $  18,165  17,287

Buildings and leasehold 
improvements  129,513  120,506

Operating equipment  784,826  683,027

Computer software  19,535  22,194

 5,298  5,480

Vehicles  288,735  259,933

Gross property, plant and 
equipment  1,246,072  1,108,427

Less: accumulated  
depreciation  (810,933)  (775,334)

Net property, plant and 
equipment $  435,139  333,093

Company transferred inventory to property, plant and equipment 

NOTE 9:  OTHER INTANGIBLES, NET

Intangible assets are amortized over their legal or estimated useful life.  The following table provides a summary of the gross carrying value 

2023 2022

(in thousands)

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Gross  
Carrying  
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Finite-lived Intangibles:
          Customer relationships $  10,000  (500)

          Trade names and trademarks  3,519  (479)  319  (294)

          Software licenses  2,202  (1,917)  2,202  (1,143)

          Patents and technology  300  (300)  300  (300)

$  16,021  (3,196)  2,821  (1,737)
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During 2023, the Company acquired intangible assets; see note 
titled Business Acquisition for additional details related to the 
intangible assets acquired.  Amortization expense for each of the 
periods presented was as follows:

(in thousands)  
Years ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021

lived intangible assets $  1,459 796 27

Estimated future amortization expense based on balances as of 

for the years 2024 to 2028.

NOTE 10:  INCOME TAXES

The following table lists the components of the provision for 
income taxes:

(in thousands)  
Years ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021
Current provision 

$  45,146  47,744  4,946
 6,502  3,164  (1,387)

 835  865  784

Deferred provision:
 7,116  14,026  2,287

 1,531  5,470  2,601

Total income tax 
provision $  61,130  71,269  9,231

effective tax rate is as follows:

Years ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021
Federal statutory rate  21.0%  21.0%  21.0%

State income taxes, net of 
 2.1  1.9  2.9

Foreign taxes, net of  
 0.3  0.3  5.1

Tax credits  (0.3)  (0.1)  (3.5)

Change in contingencies  0.1  8.6

Non-deductible expenses  0.8  0.7  (2.8)

Adjustments related to 
CARES Act  —  3.2

Change in estimated 
deferred rate  —  0.4  10.2

Adjustments related to 
vesting of restricted stock  (0.1)  0.2  7.1

Other  —  0.2  4.3

Effective tax rate  23.9%  24.6%  56.1%

liabilities are as follows:

(in thousands)  
December 31, 2023 2022

Deferred tax assets:

$  4,303  3,051

 5,101  5,237

carryforwards  1,520  1,960

 1,634  1,757

 1,414  2,531

 3,330  3,290

 5,777  6,701

 3,066  1,041

 (1,591)  (990)

 3,126  2,386

Gross deferred tax assets  27,680  26,964

Deferred tax liabilities:

 (66,784)  (51,494)

 (5,461)  (6,397)

 (6,725)  (6,546)

Gross deferred tax liabilities  (78,970)  (64,437)

Net deferred tax liabilities $  (51,290)  (37,473)

The Company's current intention is to permanently reinvest funds 

through the utilization of foreign tax credits or would otherwise 

2023, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards recorded 

between 2024 and 2042.

income tax matters as income tax expense. Accrued interest and 
penalties were immaterial as of December 31, 2023, and 2022.
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During 2023, the Company recognized an increase in its liability 

positions and disclosed as part of other long-term liabilities on the 
consolidated balance sheet. This liability, if released, would affect 
our effective rate. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending 

(in thousands) 2023 2022
Balance at January 1 $  1,917  1,737

Additions (reductions) based on tax  
positions related to the current year  337  197

Additions (reductions) for tax  
positions of prior years  (86)  (17)

Balance at December 31 $  2,168  1,917

It is reasonably possible that the amount of the unrecognized 

will increase or decrease in the next 12 months. These changes 
may be the result of, among other things, expiration of the statute 
of limitation, or conclusions of examinations or reviews. However, 

uncertain tax positions are related to tax years that remain open 

open to examination. Additional years may be open to the extent 
attributes are being carried forward to an open year.

NOTE 11:  LONG-TERM DEBT

The Company has a revolving Credit Agreement with Bank of 
America and four other lenders which provides for a line of credit 

contains customary terms and conditions, including restrictions 
on indebtedness, dividend payments, business combinations 
and other related items. The revolving credit facility includes a 
full and unconditional guarantee by the Company's 100% owned 
domestic subsidiaries whose assets equal substantially all of the 
consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries. Certain 

(the Amendment). This Amendment (1) extends the termination 

revolving loan borrowings and reduces the applicable rate margins 
by approximately 25.0 basis points at each pricing level, (3) 

(4) permits the issuance of letters of credit in currencies other than 

ratio cannot exceed 2.50:1.00 and (ii) the debt service coverage 
ratio must be equal to or greater than 2.00:1.00; otherwise, the 

million. As of both December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2022, the 
Company was in compliance with these covenants.

Revolving loans under the amended revolving credit facility bear 

 >
2.25%, based on a quarterly consolidated leverage ratio 

from 10 to 30 basis points depending upon maturity length; 
or

 >
to the highest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50%, (b) 

plus a margin that ranges from 0.25% to 1.25% based on a 
quarterly consolidated leverage ratio calculation.

In addition, the Company pays an annual fee ranging from 0.20% to 
0.30%, based on a quarterly consolidated leverage ratio calculation, 
on the unused portion of the credit facility.

The Company has incurred total loan origination fees and other 
debt related costs associated with this revolving credit facility. 
These costs are being amortized to interest expense over the 
remaining term of the loan, and the remaining net balance of 

in non-current other assets. The remaining net balance of these 

As of December 31, 2023, RPC had no outstanding borrowings 
under the revolving credit facility, and letters of credit outstanding 
relating to self-insurance programs and contract bids totaled 

available. Interest incurred, which includes facility fees on the 
unused portion of the revolving credit facility and the amortization 
of loan cost, and interest paid on the credit facility were as follows 
for the periods indicated:

(in thousands)  
Years ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021
Interest incurred $   242

Interest paid $   166
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NOTE 12:  ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of the following (in thousands):

Pension 
Adjustment

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation Total

Balance at December 31, 2021  (18,071)  (2,637)  (20,708)

Change during 2022:       

  (2,934)   5   (2,929)

  671    671

 2,249  2,249

      
(1)   778    778

Total activity in 2022   764   5   769

Balance at December 31, 2022  (17,307)  (2,632)  (19,939)

Change during 2023:         

 3,964   263   4,227

 (911)   —   (911)

 14,080  —  14,080

      
(1)  174   —   174

Total activity in 2023  17,307   263   17,570

Balance at December 31, 2023 $  — $  (2,369) $  (2,369)

(1) Reported as selling, general and administrative expenses.

NOTE 13:  CASH PAID FOR COMMON STOCK PURCHASED AND RETIRED

The Company has a stock buyback program to repurchase up to 49,578,125 shares in the open market, including an additional 8,000,000 
shares authorized for repurchase by the Board of Directors in the second quarter of 2023. As of December 31, 2023, 13,779,128 shares remained 

may be made from time to time in the open market, by block purchases, in privately negotiated transactions or in such other manner 
as determined by the Company. The timing of the repurchases and the actual amount repurchased will depend on a variety of factors, 
including the market price of the Company's shares, general market and economic conditions, and other factors. The stock repurchase 
program does not obligate the Company to acquire any particular amount of common stock, and it may be suspended or discontinued at 
any time.  

Shares purchased for withholding taxes represent taxes due upon vesting of time-lapse restricted shares granted to employees. Total share 
repurchases for 2023 and 2022 year to date are detailed below:

Years ended December 31, 2023 2022

No. of shares Avg. price Total cost No. of shares Avg. price Total cost

Shares purchased for withholding taxes  256,623  $  9.24 $   2,369,988  158,649

Open market purchases  2,469,056 7.58  18,717,662

  Total  2,725,679 $  7.74 $ 21,087,650  158,649
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NOTE 14:  FAIR VALUE DISCLOSURES

The various inputs used to measure assets at fair value establish a hierarchy that distinguishes between assumptions based on market 

1.  Level 1 – Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

2.  Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that 

corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

3.  Level 3 – 
participants would use.

of December 31, 2023, and 2022:

(in thousands) Total

Quoted  
prices 

in active  
markets for 

identical  
assets 

(Level 1)

 
 other  

observable 
 inputs 

(Level 2)

 
unobservable  

inputs 
(Level 3)

Assets:

$  4 $   4 $ — $ — 

$  26,772

Assets:

 305  305 

 24,175

values, calculated using their net asset values, which approximates fair value, as provided by the issuing insurance company. The expected 

their fair values because of the short maturity of these instruments. The Company currently does not use the fair value option to measure 

acquire in the future.

NOTE 15:  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Income Taxes – 
often result in proposed assessments.

Sales and Use Taxes – 
interpretations of statute that could result in unfavorable outcomes. In accordance with ASC 450-20, Loss Contingencies, any probable and 
reasonable estimate of assessment costs have been included in accrued state, local and other taxes.

evaluated the perceived merits of this tax assessment. The Company believes the likelihood of a material loss related to this contingency is 
remote and cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. Therefore, no loss has been recorded and the Company currently does not believe 

Litigation – 
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that the nature and amount of such insurance will, in every case, fully indemnify RPC against liabilities arising out of pending and future 
legal proceedings related to its business activities. While the outcome of these lawsuits, legal proceedings and claims cannot be predicted 
with certainty, management, after consultation with legal counsel, believes that it is not reasonably possible that the outcome of all such 

NOTE 16:  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company initiated actions to terminate the Plan in 2021 and it was fully terminated in 2023.  As part of termination, the Company 
settled its participant liabilities in one of the following ways – (i) through a lump-sum settlement at the election of the participants; 
or (ii) transfer to a commercial annuity provider or a government agency.  The Company funded this transfer through the liquidation 

recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss (net of tax) and deferred taxes (tax effect). In addition, the Company utilized funds 

Transactions for additional information.

(in thousands)  
December 31, 2023     2022

$ —  29,651
CHANGE IN PROJECTED BENEFIT OBLIGATION:   

$  29,651  41,038
Service cost  —
Interest cost  22  972
Actuarial (gain) loss  (3,715)  (5,258)

 (836)  (3,248)
Settlement  (25,122)  (3,853)

$  —  29,651
CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS:
Fair value of Plan assets at beginning of year $  20,041  35,339
Actual return on Plan assets  249  (8,197)
Employer contribution  5,454

 (836)  (3,248)
Transfer of assets  524
Refund related to Plan trust dissolution  (310)
Settlement  (25,122)  (3,853)
Fair value of Plan assets at end of year $  —  20,041
Funded status at end of year $ —  (9,610)

was disclosed in the current liabilities section on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

(in thousands)  
December 31, 2023 2022
Amounts (pre-tax) recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consist of:
Net loss $  —  22,476
Prior service cost (credit)  —
Net transition obligation (asset)  —

$  —  22,476
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The components of net periodic cost of the Retirement Income Plan are summarized as follows:

(in thousands)  
December 31, 2023 2022 2021
Interest cost $  22  972  988
Expected return on Plan assets  —  (1,509)
Amortization of net losses  226  1,010  808
Settlement loss  18,286  2,921

$  18,534  4,903  287

The pre-tax amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 
are summarized as follows:

(in thousands)  
December 31, 2023 2022 2021
Net (loss) gain $  (3,964)  2,939  4,169
Amortization of net loss  (226)  (1,010)  (808)
Settlement loss  (18,286)  (2,921)
Amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income $  (22,476)  (992)  3,361

December 31, 2023 2022 2021

Discount rate  (1)  (1)  (1)

Rate of compensation increase N/A
      

Discount rate N/A  4.86%  2.50%
Expected return on Plan assets N/A 0.0%  4.00%
Rate of compensation increase N/A

(1)

category was as follows: 

Percentage of  
Plan Assets 2022December 31,

Asset Category

Cash and cash equivalents 3.7%
Fixed income securities 96.3%
Total  100.0%

The following tables present our Plan assets using the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2022. The fair value hierarchy has three levels 
based on the reliability of the inputs used to determine fair value. See note titled Fair Value Disclosures for a brief description of the three 
levels under the fair value hierarchy.

(in thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2
Fair Value Hierarchy as of December 31, 2022:

Investments
(1)  740  740

(2)  19,301  19,301
 20,041  740  19,301

   
 20,041    

(1)

(2) Fixed income securities are primarily valued using a market approach with inputs that include broker quotes, benchmark yields, base spreads and reported 
trades. Subsequent to December 31, 2022 these securities were liquidated to fund the annuity purchases. 
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Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP)

The Company permits selected highly compensated employees to defer a portion of their compensation to the SERP.  The liabilities related 
to these deferrals are recognized as Long-term retirement plan liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

The changes in the fair value of these assets, and normal insurance expenses are recorded in the consolidated statement of operations 

recorded on the balance sheet in long-term pension liabilities with any change in the fair value of the liabilities recorded as compensation 
cost within selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Trading gains (losses) related to the 

401(k) Plan

service. This Plan allows employees to make tax-deferred contributions from one to 25 percent of their annual compensation, not exceeding 

Stock Incentive Plans

The Company has issued stock options and restricted stock to employees under stock incentive plans that were approved by stockholders. 
In April 2014, the Company reserved 8,000,000 shares of common stock under the 2014 Stock Incentive plan with a term of 10 years expiring 
in April 2024. This plan allows for a wide variety of stock-based awards such as stock options and restricted stock. In recent years, we 
have awarded time-based restricted stock in lieu of granting stock options. We have not issued any stock options since 2003 and have no 
immediate plans to issue additional stock options. As of December 31, 2023, 911,997 shares were available for grant under the 2014 plan. As 
of December 31, 2022, 2,046,199 shares were available for grant. 

The Company recognizes compensation expense for the unvested portion of awards outstanding over the remainder of the service period. 
The compensation cost recorded for these awards is based on their fair value at the grant date less the cost of estimated forfeitures. 

Restricted Stock

The Company has granted certain employees and directors time lapse restricted stock which vests after a stipulated number of years from 
the grant date in the case of employees and vests immediately for non-employee directors, depending on the terms of the issue. The time-
lapse restricted shares granted to employees in 2024 will vest ratably over a period of three years; the shares granted to employees in 2023 

declared and retain voting rights for the granted shares. The agreement under which the restricted stock is issued provides that shares 

employment from RPC, with the exception of death (fully vests) or disability (partially vests based on pre-approved formula), shares with 
restrictions are forfeited in accordance with the plan.  

The following is a summary of the changes in non-vested restricted shares for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Date Fair Value

Non-vested shares at January 1, 2023  3,248,728
 1,235,728  9.50
 (859,485)  8.63

 (92,786)  7.74
Non-vested shares at December 31, 2023  3,532,185 $   7.35
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The following is a summary of the changes in non-vested restricted shares for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant-
Date Fair Value

Non-vested shares at January 1, 2022  2,619,691
 1,254,276  6.72
 (510,084)  11.86
 (115,155)  6.29

Non-vested shares at December 31, 2022  3,248,728

compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The weighted average grant 

of net income.

Other Information

to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.8 years.

NOTE 17:  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

business, RPC and Marine Products Corporation (Marine Products) 

relationship. Per the terms of their Transition Support Services 
agreement, which may be terminated by either party, RPC provides 

income tax administration, acquisition assistance, etc., to Marine 
Products. Charges from the Company (or from corporations that 

the Company and Marine Products.

Other
The Company periodically purchases, in the ordinary course of 
business, products or services from suppliers that are owned by 

2021. All of the related party transactions have been approved by 

RPC received certain administrative services from Rollins, Inc. (a 

Gary W. Rollins, Pamela R. Rollins, Amy Rollins Kreisler and 

Timothy C. Rollins, each of whom is a director of the Company). 

Rollins, Inc. and the Company provided for the provision of 
services on a cost reimbursement basis; the agreement was 

agreements included administration services for certain employee 

the Company (or to corporations which are subsidiaries of the 

A group that includes Gary W. Rollins, Pamela R. Rollins, Amy 
Rollins Kreisler and Timothy C. Rollins, each of whom is a director 
of the Company, and certain companies under their control, 

Marine Products own 50% each of a limited liability company called 

of a corporate aircraft. The purchase of the aircraft was completed 

RPC and Marine Products is currently a party to an operating lease 

certain net operating costs comprised of rent and an allocable 

Company accounts for this investment using the equity method 
and its proportionate share of income or loss is recorded in selling, 
general and administrative expenses. As of December 31, 2023, the 
investment closely approximates the underlying equity in the net 
assets of 255 RC, LLC and the undistributed earnings represented 
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NOTE 18:  BUSINESS SEGMENT AND ENTITY WIDE 
DISCLOSURES

RPC manages its business under Technical Services and Support 
Services. Technical Services is comprised of service lines that 
generate revenue based on equipment, personnel or materials 
at the well site and are closely aligned with completion and 
production activities of the customers. Support Services is 
comprised of service lines which generate revenue from services 
and equipment offered off the well site and are closely aligned 

centralized support services and regulatory compliance are 

Technical Services consists primarily of pressure pumping, 
downhole tools, coiled tubing, snubbing, nitrogen, well control, 

Services are high capital and personnel intensive businesses. The 
Company considers all of these services to be closely integrated oil 
and gas well servicing businesses, and makes resource allocation 
and performance assessment decisions based on this operating 
segment as a whole across these various services.

Support Services consist primarily of drill pipe and related tools, 

training services. The demand for these services tends to be 

assesses performance and makes resource allocation decisions 

expenditures and key initiatives based on the operating segments 
outlined above.

Segment Revenues:

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Technical Services:   

$  771,542  846,939  369,028

 397,341  374,081  247,019

 152,484  140,889  88,946

 64,481  21,178  10,111

 47,306  39,596  38,773

 26,345  28,028  15,408

 56,638  65,652  45,761

Total Technical Services $  1,516,137  1,516,363  815,046

Support Services:       

$  73,301  62,780  32,167

 28,036  22,619  17,716

Total Support Services $  101,337  85,399  49,883

Total revenues $  1,617,474  1,601,762  864,929

at the segment level. Inter-segment revenues are generally recorded in segment operating results at prices that management believes 
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in the following table:

(in thousands)
Technical  

Services
Support 

 Services Corporate

Gain on 
disposition of 

assets, net

Pension 
Settlement 

charges Total

2023           

Revenues $  1,516,137 $  101,337 $  — $  — $  — $  1,617,474

Operating income (loss)  245,904  26,461  (18,473)  9,344  (18,286)  244,950

Capital expenditures  160,799  15,634  4,572 — —  181,005

Depreciation and amortization  97,773  10,293  57 — —  108,123

 867,550  81,754  337,541 — —  1,286,845

2022           

Revenues  1,516,363  85,399  1,601,762

Operating income (loss)  281,622  18,095  (17,660)  8,804  (2,921)  287,940

Capital expenditures  126,327  12,320  905  139,552

Depreciation and amortization  73,016  9,840  161  83,017

 823,434  80,104  225,475  1,129,013

2021           

Revenues  815,046  49,883  864,929

Operating income (loss)  24,434  (5,725)  (13,300)  10,882  16,291

Capital expenditures  59,316  7,012  1,317  67,645

Depreciation and amortization  62,667  9,752  267  72,686

 580,406  69,345  214,614  864,365

separately for all international locations combined for the years 
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. The revenues are 
presented based on the location of the use of the equipment or 
services. Assets related to international operations are less than 

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

United States 
revenues $  1,588,774  1,569,160  833,686
International  
revenues $  28,700  32,602  31,243
Total revenues $  1,617,474  1,601,762  864,929

NOTE 19:  LEASES 

duration greater than 12 months on the balance sheet with a 

payments over the term. Leases that include rental escalation 

clauses or renewal options are factored into the determination 
of lease payments when appropriate. There are no residual value 
guarantees on the existing leases. The Company estimates its 
incremental borrowing rate, at lease commencement, to determine 

lessor incentives received.

The Company subleases certain real estate to third parties. 

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had no operating 
leases that had not yet commenced. During the year ended 
December 31, 2023, the Company entered into new leases 

 
disclosed below.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company assumed 
certain leases as part of its acquisition of Spinnaker.  The 
disclosures below include the information related to the leases 
after the acquisition. See note titled Business Acquisition for 
further information related to those leases.

Part II 
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Lease Position:
The table below represents the assets and liabilities related to operating leases recorded on the balance sheet:

(in thousands)  
December 31, 2023 2022
Assets

$  24,537  28,864
 1,036

Total lease assets $  25,573  28,864

Liabilities:
$  7,367  10,728

 375
 819

 18,600  19,517
Total operating lease liabilities $  27,161  19,517

Lease Costs:

in costs of goods sold, and selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations as disclosed below.

(in thousands)  
Year ended December 31, 2023 2022 2021
Finance lease cost

$  129  3,390  1,452
 13  283  116

$  142  3,673  1,568
$  35

Operating lease cost $  15,096  9,615  7,580
Short-term lease cost  1,862  9,192  3,626
Variable lease cost  774  647  772
Sublease income  (1,400)  (1,021)  (831)
Total operating lease cost $  16,332  18,433  11,147
Total lease cost $  16,509  22,106  12,715

Other Information:

As of December 31, 2022 2021
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities –  
operating leases (in thousands) $  12,475  8,742

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities –  
(in thousands) $  515

ROU assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities (in thousands) $  8,151  12,882
(years)  4.00

Weighted average remaining lease term – operating leases  5.06  5.14
(months)  8.00

 2.3% 
Weighted average discount rate – operating leases  4.42%  3.93%

 8.40%

Part II 
Item 8. — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data



60 RPC, INC.  2023 10-K

Lease Commitments:

(in thousands)  
As of December 31, 2023
2024 $  9,197
2025  5,856
2026  4,957
2027  3,863
2028  2,291
Thereafter  4,487
Total lease payments  30,651
Less: Amounts representing interest  (3,490)
Present value of lease liabilities $  27,161

NOTE 20.  SUBSEQUENT EVENT

record at the close of business on February 9, 2024.  

ITEM 9. 

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

ITEM 9A. 

Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
ensure that information required to be disclosed in its Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within 

disclosure.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, December 31, 2023 (the Evaluation Date), the Company carried out an evaluation, under 

level as of the Evaluation Date.

included on page 34 of this report.

Part II 
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ITEM 9B.

Other Information 

ITEM 9C.

Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections 

Part II  
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Part III

ITEM 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Information concerning the Audit Committee of the Company and the Audit Committee Financial Expert(s) will be included in the RPC 
Proxy Statement for its 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, in the section titled Board of Directors and Corporate Governance, Meetings 
and Committees of the Board of Directors – Audit Committee. This information is incorporated herein by reference.

CODE OF ETHICS

RPC, Inc. has a Code of Business Conduct that applies to all employees. In addition, the Company has a Code of Business Conduct and 

website at rpc.net. Copies are available at no charge by writing to Attention: Human Resources, RPC, Inc., 2801 Buford Highway, Suite 300, 

RPC, Inc. intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision 

website, the address of which is provided above.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

by reference.

ITEM 11.

Executive Compensation

Information concerning director and executive compensation will be included in the RPC Proxy Statement for its 2024 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders, in the sections titled Human Capital Management and Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider 
Participation, Director Compensation, Compensation Discussion and Analysis, Human Capital Management and Compensation 
Committee Report and Executive Compensation. This information is incorporated herein by reference.

Part III 
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ITEM 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related  
Stockholder Matters

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The following table sets forth certain information regarding equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2023.

Plan Category

(A) 
Number of Securities 

To Be Issued Upon 
Exercise of Outstanding 

Options, Warrants and Rights

(B) 
Weighted Average  
Exercise Price of  

Outstanding Options,  
Warrants and Rights

(C) 
Number of Securities Remaining 

Available for Future Issuance Under 
Equity Compensation Plans 

(Excluding Securities  

Equity compensation plans 
approved by securityholders  911,997(1)

Equity compensation plans not 
approved by securityholders

Total  911,997

(1) All of the securities can be issued in the form of restricted stock or other stock awards.

compensation plans.

ITEM 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions and Director Independence
Information concerning certain relationships and related party transactions will be included in the RPC Proxy Statement for its 2024 
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, in the sections titled, Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions. Information regarding 
director independence will be included in the RPC Proxy Statement for its 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders in the section titled 

ITEM 14.

Principal Accounting Fees and Services
Information regarding principal accountant fees and services will be included in the section titled Audit Matters, Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm in the RPC Proxy Statement for its 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. This information is incorporated herein 
by reference.

Part III  
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Part IV

ITEM 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE AND EXHIBITS.

part of this report.

part of this report.

contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements:

Exhibit No. Exhibit Description

10.8

10.9 First Amendment to 1994 Employee Stock Incentive Plan and 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference 

10.10 April 28, 2006).

10.11

10.14 May 2, 2012).

10.17

10.20 Form of award agreement under Performance-Based Incentive Cash Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by 

Exhibits (inclusive of item 3 above):

Exhibit No. Description

3.1A 

3.1B 

3.1C

3.2

4

4.2

10.3 

Part IV 
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Part IV
Item 15. — Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Exhibit No. Description

10.4 Transition Support Services Agreement dated February 12, 2001 by and between RPC, Inc. and Marine Products Corporation 

10.5 Tax Sharing Agreement dated February 12, 2001, by and between RPC, Inc. and Marine Products Corporation (incorporated herein by 

10.8

10.9 First Amendment to 1994 Employee Stock Incentive Plan and 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13
February 29, 2012).

10.14

10.16

10.17 March 17, 2014).

10.18

10.19

10.20 Form of award agreement under Performance-Based Incentive Cash Compensation Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 

10.21

10.22 party thereto, and the Subsidiary Loan Parties party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrants Form 

10.23 thereto, and the Subsidiary Loan Parties party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99 to the Registrants Current Report 

21 Subsidiaries of RPC

23 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

24 Powers of Attorney for Directors 

31.1
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Exhibit No. Description

31.2

32.1

97.1 Policy relating to recovery of erroneously awarded compensation

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.LAB

101.PRE

101.DEF

104

ITEM 16. 

Form 10-K Summary

Part IV 
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Part IV 
Signatures

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 RPC, Inc.

Date:

Ben M. Palmer 
 

 
 
February 28, 2024

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By: By:

Date:

Ben M. Palmer 
 

 
February 28, 2024 Date:

Michael L. Schmit 
 

 
February 28, 2024

The Directors of RPC (listed below) executed a power of attorney, appointing Ben M. Palmer their attorney-in-fact, empowering him to sign 
this report on their behalf.

 Richard A. Hubbell, Director Gary W. Rollins, Director

 Pamela R. Rollins, Director Amy R. Kreisler, Director

 Timothy C. Rollins, Director 

Ben M. Palmer 
Director and as Attorney-in-fact 
February 28, 2024
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Part IV 
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, Reports and Schedule

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, Reports and Schedule

Page

33

Financial Reporting 34

Statements 35

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023, and 2022 37

38

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for each of the three years ended December 31, 2023 39

40

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for each of the three years ended December 31, 2023 41

42-60

SCHEDULE

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 69

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information is included in the consolidated 
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Part IV 
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

For the years ended 
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

(in thousands)

Balance at  
Beginning  
of Period

Charged to 
Costs and 
Expenses

Net 
(Deductions) 
Recoveries

Balance 
at End of 

Period

Year ended December 31, 2023

Credit loss allowance for accounts receivable  7,078 $  2,656 $  (2,625) (1) $  7,109

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance  990 $  601 $  — (2) $  1,591

Reserve for obsolete or slow-moving inventory  15,374 $  3,063 $  (2,512) (3) $  15,925

Year ended December 31, 2022       

Credit loss allowance for accounts receivable  6,765  2,029  (1,716) (1)  7,078

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance  865  125 (2)  990

Reserve for obsolete or slow-moving inventory  13,236  4,080  (1,942) (3)  15,374

Year ended December 31, 2021       

Credit loss allowance for accounts receivable  4,815  4,019  (2,069) (1)  6,765

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance  490  375 (2)  865

Reserve for obsolete or slow-moving inventory  13,829  5,016  (5,609) (3)  13,236

(1)

(2)

that management believes will not be utilized before they expire.
(3)

inventory.
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EBITDA in this document. These measures should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for performance measures prepared 
in accordance with GAAP. Management believes that presenting these non-GAAP measures enables investors to compare our operating 

regard to changes in our capital structure.

measure so calculated and presented. 

Set forth in the tables below are reconciliations of these non-GAAP measures with their most directly comparable GAAP measures. These 
reconciliations also appear on RPC, Inc.'s investor website, which can be found on the Internet at www.rpc.net.

RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO ADJUSTED NET INCOME

Year ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022

Net income $  195,113  218,363    

Adjustments:

 18,286  2,921 

 (4,370)  (719)

Total adjustments, net of tax  13,916  2,202 

Adjusted net income $  209,029  220,565 

RECONCILIATION OF DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE TO ADJUSTED DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022

Diluted earnings per share $   0.90  1.01   

Adjustments:

$  0.09  0.01 

 (0.02)

Adjusted diluted earnings per share $  0.97  1.02 

Weighted average shares outstanding (in thousands)  216,472  216,518  

RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO EBITDA  AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

Year ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022

Net income $  195,113  218,363  

Adjustments:

 61,130  71,269 

 341  614 

 108,123  83,017 

 8,599  1,171 

EBITDA $  356,108  372,092     

 18,286  2,921 

Adjusted EBITDA $  374,394 375,013 
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is integration with our pressure pumping service line and that, since cementing operations take place before hydraulic fracturing, these 

loyal customer base which broadens our opportunities to offer other services to new customers, our aim that our continued commitment 

to continue to prioritize employee well-being and foster a culture of integrity and accountability within the organization, our belief that 

business practices, our belief that Spinnaker is a highly complementary asset that enhances our service offerings, increases our scale, and 
broadens our customer base, our plan to continue prudently investing in our business, upgrading our assets, and diligently managing our 
cost structure to make sure we are aligned with industry demand, our intent that in 2024 we will continue to invest in our assets with the 

capacity and to remain prudent and conservative with our capital investments. 

The actual results of the Company could differ materially from those indicated by the forward-looking statements because of various risks 

10-K included as a part of this Annual Report. All of the foregoing risks and uncertainties are beyond the ability of the Company to control, 
and in many cases the Company cannot predict the risks and uncertainties that could cause its actual results to differ materially from 
those indicated in the forward-looking statements. The Company does not undertake to update these forward-looking statements.  
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